
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E-mail: comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk 

 
7 August 2020 

 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 
A meeting of the Planning Committee will held on Tuesday, 18th August, 2020 at 
10.00 am. This will be a virtual meeting and you can attend the meeting via the following 
link https://m.youtube.com/user/TeignbridgeDC/videos 
 
 

PHIL SHEARS 
Managing Director 

 
 
Membership: 
 

Councillors Haines (Chairman), Goodman-Bradbury (Vice-
Chairman), Bradford, Bullivant, Clarance, Colclough, H Cox, Hayes, 
J Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, Jenks, Kerswell, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, 
Patch, Parker, J Petherick, Phipps and Wrigley 
 

Substitutes:   Councillors Dewhirst, Jeffries, Russell, Austen, Daws and Hocking 
 
 
Please Note: Filming is permitted during Committee meeting with the exception 
where there are confidential or exempt items, which may need to be considered in 
the absence of the press and public. By entering the Council Chamber you are 
consenting to being filmed.  
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

1



 

Public Access Statement 
Information for the Public  
 
Health and safety during the meeting. In the event the fire alarm sounds please 
evacuate the building calmly but quickly using the nearest exit available, do not stop to 
collect personal or other belongings and do not use the lift. Fire Wardens will assist you 
to safety and ‘safety in case of fire instructions’ are prominently displayed in the Council 
buildings and should be followed. Should an escape route be compromised the nearest 
alternative escape route should be used. Proceed quickly to the assembly point in the 
very far overflow car park. Please report to the person taking the roll-call at the 
assembly point if you have evacuated without being accounted for by a member of staff. 

 
There is an opportunity for members of the public to speak on planning applications at 
this meeting.  Full details are available online at 
www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee. 
 
Please email comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk or phone 01626 215112 to request to speak 
by 12 Noon two working days before the meeting. 
 
This agenda is available online at www.teignbridge.gov.uk/agendas five working days 
prior to the meeting.  If you would like to receive an e-mail which contains a link to the 
website for all forthcoming meetings, please e-mail comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk   
 
General information about Planning Committee, delegated decisions, dates of future 
committees, public participation in committees as well as links to agendas and minutes 
are available at www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee   
 

Any representations or information received after the preparation of the reports and by 
noon on the Friday before the planning committee will be included in the late updates 
sheet. 
 
All documents relating to planning applications can be viewed online at 
www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningonline. In the case of sensitive applications 
representations are not placed on the website All representations are read by the case 
officer and a summary of the planning matters raised is placed online instead. 
 
 

A G E N D A  
 
PART I 
(Open to the Public) 
 
 

1. Minutes (Pages 5 - 22) 

 To confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

2. Apologies for absence.  

3. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press and Public  

 It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and 
public during consideration of the items on this agenda, but if it should wish to do so, 

2

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee
mailto:comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/agendas
mailto:comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningcommittee
file:///C:/Users/Andrew.McKenzie/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/BTLFH15W/www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningonline


 

the following resolution should be passed:- 
 
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting of the particular item(s) on the 
grounds that it involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 
 

4. Declarations of Interest.  

 If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination or interests in items 
on this Agenda, please contact the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 

5. Public Participation  

 The Chairman to advise the Committee on any requests received from members of 
the public to address the Committee. 
 

6. Planning applications for consideration - to consider applications for planning 
permission as set out below.  

7. DAWLISH - 20/00933/NPA - Coastguards Breakwater To Colonnades Breakwater 
And Dawlish Railway Station, Station Road - Application for prior approval of siting 
and appearance under Part 18 Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development Order) 2015 of proposed Coastal Resilience Works to 
Railway Infrastructure to include a new taller sea wall between two existing 
breakwaters incorporating a wider higher public promenade with a link structure to 
join Marine Parade and new ramped pedestrian access to beach adjacent to and 
adjoining the railway station. Other works to include the demolition of the 
coastguards building, works to the station including reconstructed downside station 
platform, new accessible passenger footbridge and refurbishment of passenger 
waiting room (Pages 23 - 82) 

8. DAWLISH - 20/00922/LBC - Dawlish Railway Station , Station Road - Works to 
include reconstruction of existing timber downside station platform, new accessible 
passenger footbridge, alterations to existing platforms surface resulting in minor 
changes to door openings of downside station building, refurbishment of passenger 
waiting room and refurbishment and repairs to the fabric of the station building on 
seaward elevation all in association with Dawlish Sea Wall Stage 2 project (Pages 
83 - 108) 

9. Appeal Decisions - to note appeal decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate. 
(Pages 109 - 112) 

 

3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

23 JUNE 2020 
 
Present: 
 
Councillors Haines (Chairman), Goodman-Bradbury (Vice-Chairman), Bradford, 
Bullivant, Clarance, Colclough, H Cox, Hayes, J Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, Jenks, 
Kerswell, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, Patch, Parker, J Petherick and Wrigley 

 
 
Apologies: 
Councillors Phipps 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
Rosalyn Eastman, Business Manager, Strategic Place 
Anna Holloway, Senior Planning Officer 
Christopher Morgan, Trainee Democratic Services Officer 
Trish Corns, Democratic Services Officer 
Paul Woodhead, Solicitor & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

 
 
 

7.   MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 9 June were confirmed and signed as a 
correct record by the Chairman. 
 

8.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.  
 
Councillors J Hook and Wrigley declared an interest in application 19/1854/FUL 
due to being close associates with the applicant. They did not vote on this 
application. 
 
Councillor Patch declared an interest for application 19/00122/MAJ due to 
predetermination. He did not vote on this application but spoke as the ward 
member. 
 
 

9.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION - TO CONSIDER 
APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION AS SET OUT BELOW.  
 
The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported by 
the Business Manager- Strategic Place.  

 
 

a)   IPPLEPEN - 19/01854/FUL - Dornafield Farm, Dornafield Lane - Storage 
building and new trackway and access  

Public Document Pack

15

Agenda Item 1



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

 

 The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported 
by the Business Manager- Strategic Place.  

 
Councillors Hook and Wrigley declared an interest in the application due to 
being close associates with the applicant.  
 
Public Speaker – Supporter: Spoke on the direct road access, recyclable 
materials, sight of the building from the road is obstructed by on site foliage, 
there have been no objections from consultants, and compliance with policies 
including S12.  
 
Comments from Councillors included: The building is hidden well from public 
view, the ground being built on is unpleasant anyway, other unattractive 
buildings already exist on site, there would be a positive impact on business and 
tourism in a time when it is needed, the site was in need of more storage space, 
the building is restricted to the corner of the site, helps remove waste from the 
courtyard area, there are other buildings in the area that negatively impact the 
scenery too, the site is very reputable, Devon County Council support the 
application, there would be a positive impact on the surrounding area’s waste 
management, is it normal for the DCC and Teignbridge Officers to disagree on 
an application and what is the recommended colour for the building.  
 
The Business Manager responded by explaining that it was not unusual for 
officers to disagree on an application because they were focused on different 
parts of the application, and that the recommended colour for the building was 
grey as it allows the building to blend into the environment better than green. 
They also warned that the local area was sensitive to change. 
 
Further comments from Councillors included: The site is shielded on 3 sides, the 
application should include a replanting scheme, the design is inappropriate, the 
building will be visible once the trees shed their leaves, 2 and a half thousand 
square feet makes the building prominent, and had there been any wildlife tests 
taken as part of the application. 
 
The Legal Advisor reminded the Committee that they needed clear reasons if 
they were to go against officer recommendation.  
 
The Business Manager explained that no biodiversity or wildlife tests were taken 
as they weren’t considered necessary for this application.  
 
The Business Manager suggested a list of conditions for the application, 
 
It was proposed by Councillor MacGregor and seconded by Councillor Nutley 
that the application be approved subject to conditions proposed by the Business 
Manager. 
 
A Roll Call was taken as follows: 
 
FOR: 

26



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

Cllrs Haines, Goodman-Bradbury, Clarence, Colclough, Cox, Hayes, Keeling, 
Kerswell, Jenks, MacGregor, Nutley, Patch, Parker, and Petherick. 
 
Total: 14 
 
AGAINST  
 
Cllrs Bullivant, Bradford, and Jeffery 
 
Total: 3 
 
ABSTAINED 
 
Cllr Nuttall 
 
Total: 1 
 
RESOLVED  
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 

1. Time limit 
2. Approved plans 
3. Landscaped conditions as per page 17 of the officers report 
4. Compliance with the WSI 
5. Confirmation of mixed storage use associated with the holiday park 

(ancillary thereto and not B8 or agriculture by itself). 
 
Note: The approval of this application was contrary to the advice of the Business 
Manager as set out in the agenda report. The Committee considered that the 
proposed application was acceptable for the reasons detailed above, and below.  

 
Statement of reasons  
The decision to approve the application was against officer recommendation.  
The Committee considered the application acceptable for the following reasons; the 
landscape impact was acceptable, as well as the economic benefits for Teignbridge.  
 
(14 for, 3 against and 1 abstained) 

b)   KINGSTEIGNTON - 20/00466/FUL - 1 Three Corners, Kingsteignton - 
Change of use of part of private car park to domestic curtilage  
 

 The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported 
by the Business Manager- Strategic Place.  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Petherick and seconded by Councillor Parker that 
planning permission be granted as set out in the agenda report.  
 
A roll call was taken. 
 
For: 
 

37



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

Cllrs Haines, Goodman-Bradbury, Bullivant, Bradford, Clarence, Colcough, Cox, 
Hayes, Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, Jenks, Kerswell, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, 
Patch, Parker, Petherick, and Wrigley 
 
Total: 20 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions 
 
1. Standard three year timescale 
2. Works in accordance with approved details 
(20 for and 0 against) 

c)   BISHOPSTEIGNTON - 19/01984/FUL - 2 Great Furlong, Bishopsteignton - 
Single storey side extensions, detached garage and provision of new 
steps to relocated front door (revised scheme)  
 

 The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported 
by the Business Manager- Strategic Place.  
 
The Chairman asked the Business Manager to explain the second condition 
mentioned in the report. The Business Manager replied by explaining that the tiles 
should match those of other houses in the area, and suggested a condition for this. 
 
Public Speaker – Objector: Spoke on lack of support in the neighbourhood, the low 
roof pitching, the previous application had been rejected, the site isn’t well shielded, 
concerned about setting a precedents, the house is out of character, and a lack of fit 
with other houses in the neighbourhood. 
 
Public Speaker – Supporter: Spoke on there being no objections from consultants, 
the two renovations are small and acceptable, the garage is smaller than several 
others in Great Furlong, the roof tiles are weathered and need replacing, the roof 
tiles are match with others in Great Furlong, and that the proposed extensions were 
also similar to others in the area. 

 
The Business Manager clarified that the current roof tiles were required to be 
replaced if they did not match others in the neighbourhood.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Wrigley and seconded by Councillor H Cox that a 
site visit be taken in order to check whether the roof tiles were correct. This was 
lost by 9 for and 10 against. 
 
A roll call was taken. 
 
FOR:  
 
Cllrs Goodman-Bradbury, Hayes, Cox, Keeling, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, 
Patch,  and Wrigley. 
 
Total: 9  

48



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

 
Against  
 
Cllrs Haines, Bullivant, Clarence, Colclough, Hayes, Hook, Jeffery, Jenks, 
Parker and Petherick. 
 
Total :10 
 
It was proposed by Councillor J Hook and seconded by Councillor Haines that 
planning permission permission be approved as set out in the agenda report. 
 
A roll call was taken  
 
For  
 
Cllrs Haines, Bullivant, Clarence, Colclough, Hayes, Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, 
Jenks, Parker and Petherick. 
Total: 11 
 
Against  
 
Cllrs MacGregor, Patch, and Wrigley 
 
Total: 3 
 
Abstain 
 
Cllrs Goodman-Bradbury, Bradford, Cox, Nuttall, and Nutley 
 
Total: 5 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions. 
 
1. Accord with approved plans; 
2. Within 1 month of the date of permission, the applicant shall provide samples, 
details and in situ photographs of the roofing material used for the garage and 
extension hereby approved as well as photographs and details of the material 
used on the host dwelling.  If these are not found to be reasonably matching 
materials (colour, size and texture) to the host dwelling then the existing roofing 
materials for the as built extension and garage shall be removed and replaced 
with matching materials (including size) within 6 months of the date of this 
permission. 
3. The recommendations and safeguarding measures given in the Bat and Bird 
Assessment shall be followed, including precautions to prevent threat of harm 
during construction works. 
 
 
Note: Councillor Kerswell did not vote on the application as she was not able to 

59



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

hear the whole discussion. 
 
(11 for, 3 against, and 5 abstentions) 
 

d)   TEIGNMOUTH - 20/00675/FUL - Dryads Garth , Inverteign Drive - 
Demolition of existing dwelling and construction of replacement dwelling 
with garage, associated landscaping works and alterations vehicle access  
 

 The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information 
reported by the Business Manager- Strategic Place.  
 
Public Speaker – Supporter: Spoke on there being no letters of objection to the 
application, the architecture doesn’t stand out, it provides a positive impact on 
the gateway to Teignmouth from Shaldon and Newton Abbot, support from 
Teign Heritage, the applicant is a local, and the application would be a show of 
Teignmouth’s progression. 
 
Comments from Councillors include: The building would have a lower profile 
than the original, the development adds to the gateway to Teignmouth, the 
building is sensible and attractive, the ward members approve of the application, 
and the building would offer benefits to both Teignmouth and Shaldon. 
 
In response to questions from Councillors, the committee were informed that the 
application had been brought to committee by request of the town council.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor MacGregor and seconded by Councillor Petherick 
that the application be approved as set out in the agenda report. 
 
A roll call was taken: 
 
For: 
 
Cllrs Bradford, Bullivant, Clarence, Colclough, Cox, Hayes, Hook, Jeffery, Jenks, 
Keeling, Kerswell, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, Patch, Parker, Petherick, Wrigley, 
Haines and Goodman-Bradbury. 
 
Total: 20 
 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
1. 3 year time limit for commencement; 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
including climate emissions reduction measures set out in design and access 
statement; 
3.The timber boarding to be installed on the property shall be the hereby 
approved iroko timber boarding which shall be left to naturally weather and shall 

610



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

not be painted or stained.; 
4. Ecological report including safeguarding measures and installation of ecological 
enhancement measures shall be followed and on completion a bat consultant shall 
confirm that the ecological enhancement measures have been installed in 
accordance with the recommendations in the report; 
5. On site parking and turning provision shall be provided prior to first occupation of 
the hereby approved dwelling and retained thereafter. 
(20 for and 0 against) 

e)   ILSINGTON - 19/00122/MAJ - Land Adjacent To Little Liverton Business 
Park, Liverton - Outline - Business units (Use Classes B1, B2 and B8) 
(approval sought for access and landscaping)  
 

 The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported 
by the Business Manager- Strategic Place.  
 
Cllr Patch declared an interest in this application due to predetermination. He did 
not vote but spoke on the application as the ward member. 
 
Public Speaker – Objector: Spoke on the negative impact on the environment, the 
village being designated rural, air and light pollution caused by the site, the increase 
in traffic and problems with road quality, health issues stemming from the 
construction, the proximity to the nearby school, enhanced risk to members of 
public including dog walkers, risk of flooding on site, this isn’t included in local plan, 
and the economic benefits aren’t enough to justify this application. 
 
Public Speaker – Objector: Spoke on the lack of need, lack of demand from 
companies, the former BCT site, detrimental effect on Heathfield industrial estate 
and other stores in the area, the slip road to Ilsington is in need of repair, the 
application is contrary to policy S1, and the location is inappropriate.  
 
Public Speaker – Supporter: Spoke on the applicant being an employer, the 
economic benefits, the employment gap, business closures, new homes but no new 
jobs, the need for more successful allocated employment floor space, job loss in 
recent years, no objections from any consultees, and no wildlife issues with the 
application. 
. 
Comments from Councillors include: Doesn’t fit with the Local Plan, evidence used 
is out of date, not as much demand as is claimed, employment space will open up 
as businesses shut down, the recent car crash shows how important traffic safety is 
in the area, increased pollution, sequential tests haven’t been taken, recent 
floodings in the area, loss of the carbon sink, better locations in the area, contrary to 
several policies, housing wouldn’t be allowed here, it would cause a 23 percent 
increase in village size, no carbon reduction plan, cautioning against building on 
greenfield land, the site would redistribute jobs rather than create them, concerns 
about school safety, heavy industry is damaging to small businesses, damaging to 
the rural setting, the proximity to the school isn’t as close as other Councillors 
believe, and there has been past criticism about failure to provide employment sites. 
 
The Planning Officer stated that the application was not contrary to any policies in 
their opinion, there isn’t a major flooding risk, there are good transport options, there 
haven’t been any objections from consultees, and there is no need to demonstrate 

711



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

need, 
 
Further comments from councillors included: There are only 3 buses to the site, 
there isn’t a realistic cycle route to the site, and the site should be refused to not 
following policy S22. 
 
The Business Manager stated that several conditions for planning permission 
included transport, the A382 may be receiving renovations which would help with 
transport issues, there is a need for employment space in Teignbridge, and 
reiterated that there was no need to provide proof of need. 
 
Further comments from councillors included: Lack of support from residents, 
employment land is often unfinished, no positives from combatting climate change 
with this application, need for landscape protection and enhancement, and the 
proposed site is too large, 
 
It was proposed by Councillor J Hook and seconded by Councillor MacGregor that 
permission be refused for the reason set out below. 
 
A roll call was taken.  
 
For  
 
Cllrs Haines, Goodman-Bradbury, Bradford, Clarence, Colclough, Cox, Hayes, 
Hook, Jeffrey, Keeling, Jenks, Kerswell, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, Parker, 
Petherick, Wrigley. 
 
Against 
 
None. 
 
Total: 18 
 
Abstain 
 
Cllr Bullivant 
 
Total: 1 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That planning permission be refused for the following reason. 

1. Contrary to policy S22, S9, and EC3 due to the scale of the application as 
well as lack of ease of transport options other than private car. 

 
Note: The refusal of this application was contrary to the advice of the Business 
Manage as set out in the agenda report. The Committee considered that the 
application was unacceptable for the reasons detailed above, and below.  
 
Statement of reasons  
The decision to refuse the application was against officer recommendation.  
The Committee considered the application unacceptable due to being contrary to 

812



 

Planning Committee (23.6.2020) 

S22 & S9 with regard to overall travel patterns and minimising dependence on 
private cars, and this is not small scale and therefore conflicts with EC3. 
 

10.   APPEAL DECISIONS - TO NOTE APPEAL DECISIONS MADE BY THE 
PLANNING INSPECTORATE.  
 
The Committee noted appeal decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
 
The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 12.50 pm.  
 
 

  
 
 

913



This page is intentionally left blank

14



 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

7 JULY 2020 
 
Present: 
 
Councillors Haines (Chairman), Goodman-Bradbury (Vice-Chairman), Bradford, 
Bullivant, Clarance, Colclough, H Cox, Hayes, J Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, Jenks, 
Kerswell, MacGregor, Nuttall, Nutley, Patch, Parker, J Petherick, Phipps and Wrigley 

 
 
Apologies: 
Councillors  
 
Officers in Attendance: 
Rosalyn Eastman, Business Manager, Strategic Place 
Kelly Grunnill, Senior Planning Officer 
Christopher Morgan, Trainee Democratic Services Officer 
Sarah Selway, Democratic Services Team Leader & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Beth Tipton, Administrative Assistant 
Paul Woodhead, Solicitor & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Artur Gugula, Planning Officer 
 

 
 
 

11.   MINUTES  
 
It was agreed that the minutes from the meeting of 23 June would be signed as 
a correct record at the next meeting. 
 

12.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION - TO CONSIDER 
APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION AS SET OUT BELOW.  
 

13.   BOVEY TRACEY - 19/01532/FUL - BRIAN HARRIS LTD, POTTERY ROAD 
- CHANGE OF USE FROM COMMERCIAL VEHICLE REPAIRERS (B2) TO 
USE CLASSES B1, B2 & B8 WITH ANCILLARY SUI GENERIS USE FOR 
ELECTRIC MOPED/MOTORCYCLE TEST FACILITIES WITH 
WHOLESALE DISTRIBUTION  
 
The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported 
by the Business Manager- Strategic Place. 

 
Public Speaker – Objector: Points raised include: Increase in noise and air 
pollution, concerns about the parent company, refusal of past applications, 
detrimental of character of the area and amenities, they work later than working 
hours allow them to, lack of need, and lack of enforcement taken against site. 
 

Public Document Pack

115



 

Planning Committee (7.7.2020) 

Public Speaker - Supporter: Points raised include: History of employment in the 
area, permission should be granted so that improvements can be made to the 
site, local family history with site, no objections from consultees, and little impact 
from change of business. 
 
The Business Manager clarified that enforcement had not been expedient to 
date.  
 
Comments from Councillors include: Working hours are not being kept to, large 
number of objections from residents, permission shouldn’t be retrospective, 
there should be planning enforcement, electric vehicles good for the 
environment, concerns about pollution, good for the declared climate 
emergency, and good for Teignbridge. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Haines and seconded by Councillor Wrigley that 
the application be approved as set out in the agenda report. 
 
Councillor Bullivant did not vote on the application as he did not hear the entire 
discussion. 
 
A roll call was taken 
 
For 
 
Cllrs Cox, Goodman-Bradbury, Haines, Hayes, Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, 
MacGregor, Nutley, Nuttall, Parker, Petherick and Wrigley. 
 
Total: 13 
 
Against 
 
Cllrs Braford, Kerswell, and Patch. 
 
Total: 3  
 
Abstain 
 
Cllrs Clarence and Colclough. 
 
Total: 2 
 
Resolved 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions 
 
1. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
2. Within one month, beginning with the date on which this permission is 
granted, the parking facilities as detailed on the approved plans shall be 
provided and retained for that purpose at all times for the life of the development. 
3. Works likely to give rise to significant levels of noise, which would include 
vehicle movements, shall be limited to Monday to Friday 0800 – 1800 and 

216



 

Planning Committee (7.7.2020) 

Saturday 0800 – 1300. There shall be no works likely to give rise to significant 
levels of noise outside of these times, or on Sundays or on Bank Holidays; 
4. Prior to the installation of any external lighting on the outside of buildings or 
elsewhere on the site, full details shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. 
 

14.   ILSINGTON - 20/00434/FUL - TRAGO MILLS , LIVERTON - 
CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW SECONDARY ACCESS TO REAR OF SITE  
 
The Committee considered the agenda report and additional information reported 
by the Business Manager- Strategic Place. 

 
Public Speaker - Objector: Points raised include: The road is narrow, low 
visibility on the road, use of the road by pedestrians and horse riders, blind bend 
on the road, tight junctions, negative impact on road to Bickington, increased 
pollution from cars, concerns about school safety, and impact on character of the 
area. 
 
Public Speaker - Supporter: Points raised include: Help to support jobs, A382 
still needs works doing, helps reduce congestion on main road into Trago, 
increased traffic needs to be redirected, the access will be built before the road 
reaches the school, no objections from consultees, helps to secure the business 
from future problems, and helps with community recovery.  
 
Comments from Councillors include: Will not reduce as much congestion as is 
claimed, worse use of car park assets by the applicant, concerns about the need 
to redirect traffic during construction, the amount of queueing on the roads has 
been underestimated, the traffic estimate is outdated due to new developments 
in the area, concerns about road safety in the area, concerns about road 
conditions, and concerns about validity of data. 
 
The Planning Officer responded by stating that there were no objections from 
DCC, there would not be significant congestion, the application could not be 
refused on any highway grounds without showing alternative evidemce as there 
had been no objections from the highway officer. 
 
Further comments from Councillors included: Secondary road will not impact 
business, Bickington will be negatively impacted, the statistics are inaccurate, 
conclusions drawn from data are unrealistic, increase in traffic through 
Bickington, improvements made to the A382 can be used instead of a new 
access to help with traffic, Drumbridges isn’t congested, and concerns that the 
new road will be a rat run. 
 
The Planning Officer responded by saying that 1500 people were surveyed and 
that given the increase would be about 1000 cars during peak times on 
Saturday, the increase in traffic of 2 cars per minute was considered acceptable. 
 
Further comments from Councillors included: Site is a flooding risk and there 
needs to be improvements made if this is to be included, the road is single lane, 
unsuitable road conditions, and unacceptable environmental impact. 

317



 

Planning Committee (7.7.2020) 

 
The Business Manager told the Committee that they would need clear Planning 
reasons to refuse the application, using NPPF guidance. 
 
Further comments from Councillors include: The road is not as busy as other 
members suggest, most people travel the road on bicycles not by car, very few 
houses on Staplehill Road, road will have little impact on surrounding area 
including the school, the new route is shorter which would reduce traffic, there 
should be a roundabout included to help with traffic, road is an accident 
blackspot, contrary to policy S1, concerns about the highway assessments, and 
little room for cars to pass each other on road. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Patch and seconded by Councillor Petherick that 
the application be refused due to concerns about highway safety. 
 
A roll call was taken. 
 
For 
 
Cllrs Bradford, Colclough, Cox, Hayes, Hook, Kerswell, MacGregor, Nutley, 
Nuttall, Parker, Patch, Petherick, and Wrigley. 
 
Total: 13 
 
Against  
 
Cllrs Bullivant, Clarance, Jeffery, Keeling, Haines and Goodman-Bradbury 
 
Total: 6  
 
Resolved 
 
That planning permission be refused due to concerns of highway safety.  
 
Note: The decision to refuse the application was against officer 
recommendation. The Committee considered this application unacceptable for 
the reasons below.  
 
Statement of Reason 
The Committee considered this application unacceptable due to the proposed 
development impacting highway safety in the area. In particular, at the junction 
of Bickington Road and the A383 and at Bickington Road/Staplehill Road. 
 

15.   NEWTON ABBOT - 16/02693/MAJ - LAND AT BERRY KNOWLES, BOVEY 
ROAD - OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
(UP TO 135 DWELLINGS), ACCESS FROM OLD EXETER ROAD, PUBLIC 
OPEN SPACE, LANDSCAPING AND ASSOCIATED WORKS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE (APPROVAL SOUGHT FOR ACCESS).  
 
A short break was taken by the Committee before the item. 

418



 

Planning Committee (7.7.2020) 

 
The Committee considered the agenda report as well as additional information 
provided by the Business Manager. 
 
Public Speaker – Supporter: Spoke on the delivery of key infrastructure, the 
positive impact on the community, contributions to the local economy, the Local 
Plan, the inclusion of 30% affordable homes, 20% customer designed homes, 
and enhanced biodiversity.  
 
Comments from Councillors included: The application would have easy access 
into town, there would be a cycle path included, the National Planning Policy 
Framework supports this application, the site would likely be included in the next 
Local Plan, the Jetty Marsh Link is positive, strong infrastructure included, little 
climate impact in terms of transport, this is a good deal and the infrastructure is 
green, is the space adequate for the number of dwellings, and concerns about 
building on greenfield sites. 
 
In response the Planning Officer told the committee that there was adequate 
space for the number of dwellings. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Bullivant and seconded by Councillor Clarance 
that planning permission be granted subject to conditions outlined in the agenda 
report and update sheet and with ward member consultation. 
 
A roll call was taken. 
 
For 
 
Cllrs Bullivant, Clarance, Colclough, Hayes, Hook, Jeffery, Keeling, MacGregor, 
Nutley, Parker, Petherick, and Goodman-Bradbury. 
 
Total: 12 
 
Against 
 
Cllrs Bradford, Cox, and Patch. 
 
Total: 3  
 
Abstain 
 
Cllrs Kerswell, Nuttall and Wrigley.  
 
Total: 3 
 
Resolved 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 

 Submission of reserved matters (scale, appearance, landscaping and 
layout) required prior to commencement; 

519



 

Planning Committee (7.7.2020) 

 Reserved matters to be submitted within 3 years (5 years for custom-build 
plots); 

 Development shall commence before the expiry of 2 years from the date 
of final reserved matters; 

 Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans; 

 Phasing details to be submitted (to include construction access, estate 
roads, landscaping); 

 Full details of surface water drainage management system and foul 
drainage to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval to 
comply with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment; 

 Full details of surface water drainage management system during the 
construction period to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; 

 Full details of the adoption and maintenance arrangements for the 
permanent surface water drainage management system; 

 Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) – Biodiversity and 
Construction; 

 Landscape & Ecology Management Plan (LEMP); 

 Hard surfacing to include detailed design of the footways/cycle path, 
drainage as well as other hard surfaces (Highways condition); 

 Site access road shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation; 

 No development shall take place until details of the layout and 
construction of the access have been approved; 

 Off-Site Highway Works - The off-site highway works as shown on 
drawing no. 0173.109 shall be constructed and made available for use 
before any other part of the development commences; 

 Off-Site Highway Works - No occupation shall take place on site until the 
off-site highway works as shown on drawing no. 0173.121, 0173.106 
have been constructed and made available for use; 

 A scheme for interim ped / cycle connectivity 

 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation: 

 Submission of a detailed lighting assessment (of impacts at both 
construction and operational phases); 

 Provision of bird and bat boxes at a rate of 1 per dwelling; 

 Tree protection details to be submitted for approval; 

 Waste Audit Statement to be submitted for approval; 

 Details of formal play to be approved (including quantum, location, layout, 
implementation, management and maintenance); 

 Details of public open space to be approved (including quantum, location 
layout, implementation, management and maintenance); 

 Full details of the hedge replacement shall be proposals to the eastern 
boundary shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA; 

 Design code for the custom build dwellings to be submitted for approval; 

 Design Code for entire site/parameter plan 

 Carbon Reduction Plan 

 Food Warning and Evacuation 

620



 

Planning Committee (7.7.2020) 

 Finished floor levels of habitable dwellings shall be set no lower than 
6.3mAOD 

 Finished surface levels of garden and parking areas shall be set no lower 
than 5.85mAOD. 

 Scheme to ensure that there is no net loss of floodplain storage as a 
result of any necessary reprofiling works 

 Conditions to secure, where relevant, any other measures required to 
secure priority protected species. 

 A condition requiring local food to be incorporated into landscape 
proposals at the reserved matters stage; and, 

 An additional item relating to the inclusion of electric vehicle charging 
points. 

 

16.   APPEAL DECISIONS - TO NOTE APPEAL DECISIONS MADE BY THE 
PLANNING INSPECTORATE.  
 
The Committee noted decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
 
 
The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 1.00 pm.  
 
 

 
Chairman 
Cllr M Haines 

 

 
 

721



This page is intentionally left blank

22



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 
18 AUGUST 2020 
 

CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Mike Haines 

 
 

APPLICATION FOR 
CONSIDERATION: 
 

DAWLISH - 20/00933/NPA -  Coastguards Breakwater To 
Colonnades Breakwater And Dawlish Railway Station, 
Station Road - Application for prior approval of siting and 
appearance under Part 18 Class A of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 
2015 of proposed Coastal Resilience Works to Railway 
Infrastructure to include a new taller sea wall between two 
existing breakwaters incorporating a wider higher public 
promenade with a link structure to join Marine Parade and 
new ramped pedestrian access to beach adjacent to and 
adjoining the railway station. Other works to include the 
demolition of the coastguards building, works to the 
station including reconstructed downside station platform, 
new accessible passenger footbridge and refurbishment 
of passenger waiting room 
 

APPLICANT: Network Rail 

CASE OFFICER 
 

Helen Addison 

WARD MEMBERS: Cllr Linda Goodman-Bradbury  
Cllr Linda Petherick  
Cllr Martin Wrigley  
 

Dawlish North East 

 

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00933/NPA&MN  

 
 
 
 

23

Agenda Item 7

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00933/NPA&MN
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00933/NPA&MN


SM

Slipway

Cottage 1

PLACE

Post

PIERMONT
31

Statio
n

Groyne

3

15a

Posts

4

1

BROOKDALE TERRACE

TCBs

1 to 6

Richmond Court

1 to 32

Po
sts

15b

White Court

Gara
ge

4

Richmond

MP 2
06

.25

Mean
 Lo

w Wate
r

Shingle

Mean
 High

 Wate
r

MP 20
6.0

1

MLW

1 to 11

17.7m

1 to

23.5m

Sand and Shingle

Watc
h H

ou
se

1 to
 30

Bursledon Court

1 to
 17

2

Lodge

15
a

Oak

11

Farriford

1

2

ST
RA

ND
 H

ILL
1

15.8m
South Devon

27

22

2a

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

Bay Tree House

5

1

9.8m

Overcliff Court

THE DRIVE

24.4m

3

12

26a

Cottage

Shelters

Post

6
19

7

Brunel

STA
TIO

N ROAD

Cliff 
Cour

t

PC

Breakwater

Shingle

York Gardens

Gara
ge

7

Sand and Shingle

Dawlish

5

1 to 6

Sand and

Sand and Shingle

3a

1

Mariners

1 to
 16

PH

9

El
Sub Sta

Rem
o T

err

5b

5a

Coastguard

San Rem
o

3

Groyne

Cottages

1

Breakwater

FB

13a

1 to 9

House

1 to 9

19

Garage

1 to 50

6

7

8

FAY ROAD

Pe-ett

Lanherne

EXETER ROAD

4

The Clint

15

25

Prospect

10

Inn

IDDESLEIGH TERRACE

2

9

COMMERCIAL ROAD

5a

20

16.8m

1 to 28
19

a

3a
3

26

Sub Sta
El

Shelter

LB

Flo

BEACH STREET

2Exeter  Inn

1 to
Weir

1 to 8 RICHMOND PLACE

Sand

8 to 13

Kin
g's

 W
alk

Court

31a

PH

Court

6

7

Bank

1

Weir

Fountain

5.5m

SL

TEIGNMOUTH HILL
4

Po
sts

and

Slipway

House

4
Cotta

ges Hall

1

San

27

Terra
ce

A 379

2

GROVE COURT
21.9m

5

PW

Kelso

Riva

1 to 15

39.6m

PH

(PH)

1 to 15

Fayfield

Goodwood

Merrihill

11

1

23

7a

1a

10a

16

19

18

4a

7

1

1

Posts

4.3m

2

Mean
 High

 W
ate

r

1

Bureau

17 to 21

1

9

Weir

4.9m

PC

1 to 15

FB

Sand
 an

d S
hin

gle

5

5.5m

Information

1

4.6m

2

20

House

3

Groyne

Groyne

SM

MAR
INE PA

RAD
E

Coastguard

Mast (Telecommunication)

Mew
s

4

6

9

4

34 
to 

38

Char
lton

 Hous
e

18
 to

 33

EX
ET

ER
 RO

AD

1

LB

Mean
 Lo

w Wate
r

Scandia

Clint Cottage

Littlehayes

Shelter

Outlook Court

Pipers

31.4m

30.2m

1 to 2

STRAND HILL

5

The Cloisters

Inshes

2 1

EAST CLIFF ROAD

39.6m

Highcliff Court

17

MAYFLOW
ER CLOSE

20

West-Way

23

2b

2

Sherwell

Car Park

19

Sand

Bay View

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. 
You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. 

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

20/00933/NPA - Coastguards Breakwater To Colonnades Breakwater 
And Dawlish Railway Station

Station Road, Dawlish
EX7 9PJ

´1:2,500Scale:

24



 

 

 
REASON FOR REPORT 

 
This application has been included on the agenda because the Business Manager -
Strategic Place is of the opinion that it is of regional significance and therefore it is 
appropriate that determination is by the planning committee.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
Subject to receipt of satisfactory information (to be determined by the Business Manager – 
Strategic Place in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of Planning Committee) 
relating to: 

1. The design of the accessible footbridge, 
2. The incorporation of elements of relief into the sea wall 
3. Confirmation of the extent of refurbishment to the downside platform building 

AND 
Subject to confirmation that Network Rail is the competent authority or the satisfactory 
conclusion of the consideration of the proposals by the LPA as the competent authority; 
 
PRIOR APPROVAL BE GRANTED subject to but not limited to conditions addressing the 
following matters, the precise wording of the conditions to be determined under delegated 
authority by the Business Manager – Strategic Place: 

 
1) Schedule of external materials to be agreed with submission of sample panels, 

including hard surfaced areas, walls, fences, platform finish etc. 
2) Details of design and materials of new railings, handrails, benches, gates etc 
3) Detailed schedule of works to downside station building to include measures 

identified in Appendix C of the Historic Statement including timescale for 
implementation and completion.  

4) Details of re-use of gas standard posts 
5) CEMP to include pollution prevention guidelines, protection of coastguards 

footbridge, monitoring of vibration from piling  
6) Specification of external lighting 
7) Details of heritage boards in terms of size and location  
8) Specification of alterations to Coastguards footbridge 
9) Phasing plan for implementation of works 
10) Timescale for completion of new accessible footbridge 
11) Schedule of alterations to the listed station including changes to canopies 
12) Annual monitoring of changes to levels of beach and in the event of accelerated 

loss of sand submission and implementation of a scheme to address impact of new 
wall on beach levels.  

13) Details of drainage system to include the station, promenade and public realm 
including maintenance regime.  

14) Provision of cycle parking  
15) Provision of bird/bat nesting boxes 
16) Details of biodiversity enhancement measures to be provided at Dawlish Water 

Basin and the pocket park to include maintenance details for 10 years.  
17) Pre- and post-construction Sabellaria alveolata condition surveys 
18) Detailed design of Dawlish Water Basin 
19) Details of height of fence above wall dividing station platform and new promenade 
20) Construction Management Plan to include protection of back wall of former pumping 

station in the station car park.   

25



 

 

21) Details of signage to include access and egress in the Colonnades area relating to 
fluvial and coastal events.  

22) Details of how the historic legacy of the Boat House will be acknowledged.   
23) Details of public art at the Dawlish Water Basin and adjacent to Coastguards 

Breakwater. 
24) Detailed plans of development adjacent to Coastguards Breakwater to include how 

the development abuts the breakwater.  
25) Details of an external lighting scheme between the Colonnades Bridge and the 

station. 
 

Informatives 
Flood Risk Activity Permit  
SSSI assent 

 
 

3. DESCRIPTION 
 

Site Description 
 

1.1. The application site comprises a 415 metre stretch of railway between the 
Colonnade breakwater and the Coastguards breakwater, which includes the Grade 
II listed station building.  The site extends to include the southern part of the car 
park closest to the station building, Dawlish Water basin, the former Coastguard’s 
Boat House, the Coastguards Bridge and a small pocket park accessible by 
footpath from both Exeter Road and from the Coastguards Bridge.  It includes a 
short length of both of the breakwaters.  The site is partly within Dawlish Town 
Centre, and is located adjacent to the beach.  The norther end of the station car 
park and the park are within the Dawlish Cliffs SSSI.    Along the south eastern 
side (seaward) of the application site there is a hard surfaced promenade which 
forms part of the South West Coast Path.  This path is at a lower level than the 
station and provides unobstructed access to the beach along most of its length.   
 

1.2. To the northwest of the site is Station Road. To the northeast of the site is 
Riviera Terrace frontage. To the southwest of the site is the colonnade breakwater 
and the Marine Parade frontage, where a new sea wall with associated promenade 
is under construction and to the southeast of the site is the beach frontage. 
 

1.3. The notable elements of the application site are described below: 
 

The Station Building 
 

1.4. The station building opened in April 1875, following a fire that destroyed the 
original building that had been constructed from wood.  It has an Italianate styled 
structure with a painted render finish on the elevation facing the town and on the 
seaward side continues the Italianate design at the upper level with the lower level 
in a battered fortified design.   The Council’s Conservation Officer describes the 
lower floor as a type of dockyard military workshop building originating at the 
Arsenale in Venice.  There are 5 recessed arches which provide seating along the 
promenade.  There is a blocked off stairway at the southern end of the building 
which originally enabled direct access from the downside platform to the beach.  
The upside and downside platforms are linked by a footbridge which was replaced 
in 2013.  The canopies above the platforms were replaced in 1961.   
 

26



 

 

1.5. There is an interesting feature on the southern section of the downside 
(seaward) platform which is supported by a row of cast iron pillars made from 
reused gas standard posts, used during the 1940s due to the limited availability of 
iron and steel as shown in the photograph below; 

 

 
 
 

1.6. To the north of the station platform the downside (seaward) platform 
overhangs the promenade below.  There is evidence to show that this section has 
been rebuilt or repaired on a number of occasions.  It is also a popular nesting 
location for pigeons.   
 

1.7. There is a waiting room on the upside (town) platform.  There are four rooms 
adjacent to the downside (seaward side) platform that are in a poor state of repair 
and not in use.  There are windows on the seaward elevation of the building some 
of which are protected by Perspex.   
 

1.8. An escorted barrow crossing is used for wheelchair users and others where 
the steps to the footbridge are inaccessible.  The crossing is restricted in use and 
outside of operational hours passengers are required to change at stations further 
west to return on the north platform. 
 

1.9. The station was rebuilt in the last year of the operation of the South Devon Railway 
before it was amalgamated with the Great Western Railway in 1876 and is 
described in the applicant’s heritage statement as standing alone as a late and 
accomplished example of the South Devon Railway line.  Later buildings along the 
line follow the Great Western Railway’s design.   

 

27



 

 

The Sea Wall and Promenade 
 

1.10. The sea wall between Colonnade and the Coastguards Breakwater was 
originally built as part of the construction of the South Devon Railway in 1846.  A 
second track was laid along this section of the railway in approx. 1874 which would 
have necessitated obscuring the original wall.   The wall is a linear feature.  There 
is evidence of multiple rebuilding along its length.  In contrast to the sea wall along 
the Marine Parade section it has a promenade about halfway down its height on 
the seaward side rather than along its top.  There are virtually no railings along its 
length and there are open views to the sea from the wall and the promenade. 
 

1.11. There is a ramp to the beach located close to the Colonnade viaduct, and 
another by the Coastguards Breakwater.   There are steps to the beach, halfway 
between the station building and the Coastguards breakwater.  

 
Coastguards Boat Shed and Footbridge 

 
1.12. At the northern end of the sea wall there is a footbridge over the railway line 

and a Boat Shed, still within the application site. The steps to the footbridge and 
the Boat Shed are constructed from granite.  They were built in 1846 making them 
some of the oldest surviving features along the South Devon Railway.  
 

1.13. The Boat Shed was originally a boat store for the coastguard’s boat.  The 
former Coastguards station was situated on the other side of the footbridge.  The 
coastguard service here closed in 1901.  This Boat Shed is currently in a derelict 
condition.  The roof was removed last winter due to concerns about safety on the 
railway from loose slates.   
 

1.14. The footbridge was originally a cast iron structure.  The bridge deck was 
replaced in the late 20th century.  The original stone plinth housing the steps to the 
beach remains, as does the ashlar plinth, quoins, cornice bands, copings and blind 
lancet windows.  An image of the Boat Shed with the footbridge in the background, 
showing their distinctive architectural detailing is below; 

 

 

28



 

 

 
Dawlish Water Basin 

 
1.15. This is the stilling basin formed where Dawlish Water meets the sea.  It 

adjoins the Colonnade Breakwater and is covered with sand and shingle, with a 
low stone wall along the eastern and northern boundaries.  It appears as part of the 
beach although there are signs in place warning the public not to go into the river 
water.  The basin area can be seen in views from the town centre under the 
Colonnade Viaduct.   

 

29



 

 

The Colonnade Underbridge 
 

1.16. This is a low bridge that is finished in painted metal, supported on four 
colonnades that carries the railway over the main pedestrian access to the beach 
from the town.   There are low upstands on either side of the bridge with railings 
above.   The Council’s conservation officer describes the colonnades as “a very 
aesthetically pleasing conjunction of granites, roughly-coursed and smooth, with 
brick; the ends are turned, not square and have a sculpted plinth and corniced 
cordon, with a pedestal base over”. 
 

1.17. The application site is clearly visible from the surrounding area which 
includes the south west coast path and the beach.  There is limited visibility of the 
station and railway line from the centre of the town.  One key viewpoint that is 
visible from the Lawns is a view of the Colonnades viaduct.  This view is significant 
because the sea is visible under the viaduct bridge and it is the main visual link 
between the town centre and the sea.   The majority of the application site is 
located within the boundary of Dawlish Conservation Area.  The southern part of 
the site is within flood zone 3, which carries the highest level of flood risk.  
 

1.18. The cliff at the northern end of the station car park which extends to the park 
that is within the application site is designated as a SSSI.  It is notified for its 
geological interest.   

 
The Application 

 
1.19. This is an application for prior approval for alterations to the sea wall and the 

promenade. By virtue of Part 18 of the General Permitted Development Order 
(England) 2015 (as amended) planning permission is granted for the works subject 
to the Local Planning Authority giving approval to the design or external 
appearance of the development to ensure that it would not ‘injure the amenity of 
the neighbourhood’. Therefore the principle of development is already agreed and 
only issues of design, external appearance and their effect on the amenity of the 
area can be considered in the determination of this application.  
 

1.20. Network Rail advises that the reason for this submission is because the 
proposed works are needed to protect the railway line for the next 100 years by 
improving existing sea defences.  Currently the railway is susceptible to large over 
topping events and flooding of the track bed, which means that in storm events the 
railway needs to close as trains cannot pass the station when the track is flooded 
and passengers cannot safely get off the trains due to sea water overtopping the 
platform.  This line is the only route linking Devon and Cornwall to the national rail 
network, and therefore any obstruction on the line in Dawlish impacts Cornwall and 
towns/cities to the south west such as Newton Abbot, Plymouth, Torquay and 
Truro.   
 

1.21. The predicted sea level rise of 1 metre over the next 100 years requires 
greater protection to be provided in this development to ensure that the railway will 
be protected for this time period.   
 

1.22. A separate Listed Building application has been submitted for the proposed 
alterations to the listed station building and an application for a Marine Licence has 
been submitted to the Marine Management Organisation.    
 

30



 

 

1.23. Committed funding for this development has been made available by the 
Department of Transport and signed off by HM Treasury.  
 

1.24. The development the subject of this application will link to the first phase of 
Network Rail’s resilience programme which is currently under construction at 
Marine Parade.  The submitted application is for the following development; 

 
I. Construction of a new sea wall with a recurve and promenade between the 

colonnades viaduct and the Coastguard’s ramp. 
II. A wider and taller public walkway incorporated into the seawall to include viewing 

and seating areas along its length. 
III. A new bridge over Dawlish Water to join the promenade to the new sea wall at 

Marine Parade 
IV. Remodelling of the basin at the end of Dawlish Water 
V. Demolition of the Coastguards Boat Shed with the exception of the rear wall which 

acts as a retaining wall for the railway. 
VI. Demolition of the lower part of the Coastguard’s Footbridge stairs. 
VII. Alterations to the station platforms to provide a reduced stepping distance between 

the train and the platform on the seaward side, new surfacing to include tactile 
paving and remodelling of the overhanging platform requiring the relocation of some 
listed elements.  

VIII. Conservation works to the station consisting of the restoration of external fabric and 
the upgrade of internal rooms to the downside waiting rooms to bring these facilities 
back into use. 

IX. A new accessible station footbridge with lifts and steps and ramp into the station 
carpark.  

X. Construction of ramped access from the downside platform directly to the beach.  
XI. Reconstruction of the Dawlish Water stilling basin on the same footprint which 

would incorporate new public realm and seating.  
 

1.25. Further details of the main elements of the proposal are detailed below; 
 

The Sea Wall 
 

1.26. The proposed Sea Wall would be constructed in precast concrete with a 
recurve top, which is the same form as the recently constructed sea wall at Marine 
Parade. Unlike the current sea wall which has a low-level Promenade giving it a 
staggered appearance when looking from the shore, the proposed wall would 
comprise a single vertical wall to c8.0m AOD (rising between 6-8m above current 
beach levels). There would be a high-level Promenade along the top, typically at 
c6.9m with raised viewing areas at 7.2m AOD behind the wall, with a second wall 
dividing the promenade from the railway platform beyond. The top of the second 
wall would be 8.5m AOD. As the railway platform behind is at 7.0m AOD this would 
mean that the wall would extend 1.5m above the platform.  The proposed sea wall 
would be considerably higher in comparison with the existing wall which is around 
3.8m high (a difference of 4.2m).    
 

1.27. Prior to the selection and design of a new taller sea wall and promenade to 
protect the railway and station, other options were considered by Network Rail 
(NR) including a taller wall with a low level walkway, an off shore breakwater and 
beach nourishment.  Physical testing of a taller wall with both a low and high level 
walkway was carried out by NR.  This showed that a design including a low level 
promenade would not provide the resilience required to stop overtopping of the 

31



 

 

railway.  A taller sea wall to include high level promenade was the option selected 
as the design solution.   A cross section of the new wall and promenade relative to 
the existing wall is below; 

 

 
 

1.28. The new dividing wall between the station platform and the high level 
walkway can also be seen on this section.   
 

1.29. The new sea wall would be adjacent to and surround the lower ground floor 
level of the station building, obscuring the whole of this level.  Currently users of 
the coastal path walk level with the lower ground floor and see a two storey 
elevation.  The proposal would raise the level of the walkway adjacent to the 
station meaning pedestrians would be at the level of the current first floor windows. 
 

1.30. As with the works at Marine Parade the existing sea wall and promenade 
would stay in situ and the new wall would be constructed and back filled.  Rather 
than digging a strip foundation and filling with concrete as was done at Marine 
Parade, because the sand depths and bedrock levels are different the supporting 
structure and foundation for the new wall would be piled.  Pile installation is 
proposed to involve screwing-in and / or pre-augering, utilising piles of 1,220mm or 
750mm diameter; percussive piling techniques would not be used. 
 

1.31. As can be seen on the section the new sea wall would project seawards onto 
the beach.  Along the majority of the length of wall the projection would be 3 metres 
although in some sections such as adjacent to the Coastguards breakwater it 
would project 9 metres onto the beach.   
 

1.32. Steps would be provided from the high level walkway adjacent to the 
southern end of the station to the hard surfaced area that passes under the 
Colonnades bridge.  At the base of the steps there would be a ramp down to the 
beach.  Stepped access to beach level would also be provided adjacent to the 
Coastguards Breakwater.    

 

32



 

 

The Accessible Station Footbridge 
 

1.33. A new footbridge with both steps and passenger lifts would be built to the 
north of Dawlish Railway Station which would provide step-free access. It would be 
set apart from the station building and would be an open structure (with no canopy) 
with angled lift shafts and both staircases facing south. All structural steel would be 
stainless steel with a bead blasted (matte) finish and the footbridge and steps 
would have glass balustrades. The exterior would be finished in Glass Reinforced 
Concrete panels with a textured pattern finish. The steps on the downside platform 
would have a wave protection wall. 
 

1.34. The construction of the new station footbridge could only take place if the 
existing station platform is reconstructed and widened in order that there would be 
sufficient space and the platform would be structurally capable of accommodating 
it.   

 
Dawlish Railway Station 

 
1.35. The Sea Wall would run directly in front of the southern (beach side) 

elevation of the station building, obscuring the lower-storey entirely. At the interface 
between the sea wall and the station building there would be a waterproof 
membrane included to prevent any ingress of water from the new structure into the 
fabric of the historic building. The construction would involve the removal of the 
overhanging platform south of the building and the gas standard pillars which 
support it, and the cantilevered platform to the north of the building. A new 
Promenade would run at the level of the upper storey, with pedestrians walking 
alongside the windows in the station building. 
 

1.36. It is also proposed to alter the arrangement of Platform 1 (downside). This 
would involve platform edge realignment and the raising of the platform level. The 
first step of the staircase leading to the existing footbridge would be removed to 
match the raising of the platform level. Platform 2 (upside) would be lowered 
slightly but to prevent impact to the main building the platform would have a 
gradient to it, approximately 1:50. All platforms would be resurfaced with new 
tactile indicators for the visually impaired and copers installed. There would also be 
new telecoms, lighting and CCTV assets.   
 

1.37. The construction of the new sea wall would provide protection to the station 
building and would enable it to dry out.  It is proposed to bring the existing rooms 
adjacent to the downside platform back into public use.  It is also proposed to 
refurbish the windows along this elevation and to remove the perspex screens.  In 
addition repairs would be carried out to this elevation of the building.   
 

1.38. A new pedestrian ramp would be formed between the upside station platform 
and the car park which would link to the new lift bridge in order to provide step free 
access to both platforms.   

 

33



 

 

Dawlish Water Basin 
 

1.39. It is proposed to reconstruct the outflow basin for Dawlish Water on the same 
footprint that currently exists.  The existing wall at the seaward end of the basin 
would be increased in height from 2m to 3.8 m.  The open section of the basin 
would be reduced in size and the remainder of the basin would be hard surfaced to 
create a larger area of public realm in this location.  Railings would be placed 
around the edge of the outflow basin to prevent public access.    At the town end of 
the basin a wider culvert would be provided under the new walkway to future proof 
potential works to Dawlish Water by others.   
 

1.40. The existing culvert which carries Dawlish Water under the Colonnade 
Viaduct would be extended by approximately 7.5m on the seaward (southeast) 
side, to allow the new public realm area to cross over Dawlish Water. The 
extended section of the culvert would widen from the current width of 4.5m at its 
exit to 8m, to allow for potential future capacity upgrades of the existing culvert. 
The width of this section of basin would be the same as the current lowered basin 
section which carries flows to the sea. 
 

1.41. It is proposed to hard surface the entire basin.  A stepped design would be 
created which incorporates areas of rougher concrete and depressions to allow 
‘rock pools’ to form with the tide and promote biodiversity.  The landscape design 
for the area includes new public realm around the basin, incorporating seating and 
areas for public art and heritage interpretation. 

 
 

 
 

34



 

 

Link to Marine Parade 
 

1.42. The proposed new high level walkway would link to the new raised walkway 
currently under construction at Marine Parade through the construction of a new 
pedestrian link bridge adjacent to the Colonnade Viaduct.  This was originally 
submitted with solid concrete walls on either side but has been revised during the 
course of the application to have railings on either side.  This new link bridge would 
be visible from the town side of the Colonnades above the existing bridge.   

 
The Boat House and Coastguards steps 

 
1.43. It is proposed to demolish the existing stone Boat House.  The rear wall 

would be retained because it is a retaining wall to the railway.  Stones from the 
Boat House would be reused to create a feature within the new surfacing to show 
the footprint of the building.  Reclaimed material would also be used to form new 
steps nearby and to form a bench.  An interpretation board would be provided 
close to the area within information about the former structure.   
 

1.44. The bottom of the Coastguard steps and parapet would be removed and 
covered by the new development as the level of the promenade in this location 
would be higher than it currently is.   

 
Enhancement works to park and nearby steps and path 

 
1.45. Enhancement works are proposed to an existing small park area beyond the 

Coastguards footbridge.  These include improvements to seating and the viewing 
area to deliver both amenity and ecological improvements.   
 

1.46. It is proposed to improve the pathway and steps from Exeter Road down to 
the footbridge and onto the promenade by installing anti slip surface on the steps 
and new handrails at the side of the steps and pathway. 

 
Network Rail’s Description of how they Sub-divide the Development  

 
1.47. In designing the proposed development Network Rail have broken the 

scheme down into six sub frontages (A to F), which reflect the different character 
and constraints of each element of the development and the separate engineering 
challenges.  These are shown on the plan below; 

 

35



 

 

 
 

These sub frontages can be described as; 
 

A: Dawlish Water and still basin/ holding pit – 40m wide 
B: South west of station – 26m wide 
C: Dawlish Railway Station – 40 m wide 
D: South east of station and main length of sea wall - 263m wide 
E: Coastguards boathouse building – 14m wide 
F: Coastguards interface and sea wall beyond – 32m wide 

 

36



 

 

Assessment of the application 
 

Principle of Development 
 

1.48. The principle of this development is granted planning permission by the 
General Permitted Development Order (England) 2015 subject to the decision 
maker considering whether:  

a) The development ought to be and could reasonably be carried out elsewhere on the 
land; or,  

b) The design or external appearance would injure the amenity of the neighbourhood 
and is reasonably capable of modification to avoid such injury.  

 
1.49. Considering (a) above, whether the proposal could be carried out elsewhere, 

as it specifically relates to improving the resilience of this stretch of railway line that 
has been vulnerable to storm damage and wave overtopping resulting in closure of 
the railway line, it is evident that this development could not be carried out 
elsewhere.  

 
1.50. In respect of part (b) relating to the design and external appearance relative 

to the impact on the amenity of the neighbourhood the following issues are 
considered relevant to the determination of this application: 

 
 Impact on the character and visual amenity of the area  
 Impact on the character of the historic environment 
 Flood risk  
 Impact on biodiversity  
 Impact on beach levels 
 Impact on amenity of the occupiers of surrounding properties 
 Conclusion 

 
Impact on the Character and Visual Amenity of the Area 

 
1.51. The proposed development would have a significant effect on the 

appearance and character of Dawlish due to its prominent location where it would 
be visible from publically accessible areas, in particular from the promenade and 
the beach.  A notable visual change would derive from the height and scale of the 
new sea wall which would be approximately 4.2m higher than the existing wall, 
would encase the lower floor of the station within it and would extend the built form 
over the beach.   Other elements of the development that would impact the 
appearance and character of the area are the new pedestrian link bridge to Marine 
Parade which would be visible above the Colonnades Viaduct when viewed from 
the town, the changes to the outfall basin for Dawlish Water, the new accessible 
footbridge in the station which would be significantly taller than the existing station 
building and demolition of the Coastguards Boat House.   
 

1.52. The proposed sea wall due to its height and increase in width, would result in 
projection of the development onto the existing beach by between 3 and 9 metres.  
There would be a visual impact from the higher wall and the change in materials 
from a predominant use of natural stone in the existing wall to use of pre cast 
concrete panels, with a recurve panel above.  This would be apparent when viewed 
from the beach and for users of the promenade which is also part of the SW coast 
path.  The appearance of the station building from the beach and the coast path 
would be changed on a significant scale. Distinctive features such as the southern 

37



 

 

part of the station platform supported on the former gas light columns, the lower 
fortress like stone elevation of the station building with its recessed arches and the 
northern extended cantilevered station platform would be hidden or removed.  The 
experience for the user of the promenade would also be changed from walking at a 
low level close to the beach to being elevated above beach level.  The relationship 
of pedestrians with the southern (beachside) elevation of the station building would 
alter as they would now be level with the first floor windows.   
 

1.53. In support of the application NR has advised that whilst the design has been 
developed to minimise overtopping of waves it would also deliver amenity benefits 
for the public.  These include provision of a wider promenade with areas for 
seating.  The design of the promenade has progressed since the Marine Parade 
scheme, so that where seating areas would be provided the level of the promenade 
would be raised to reduce the height of the solid parapet to allow clearer views 
over the wall.   Short sections of safety handrails would be provided on top of the 
solid parapet to maintain the 1.1m high safety requirement.  This would be 
beneficial for children and people using mobility scooters or wheelchairs.  It is also 
proposed to re-use the former gas standards to provide information and way 
finding through the development.   
 

1.54. It is accepted that improvements need to be carried out to ensure that the 
railway line is resilient and adapted for the projected 1 metre increase in sea level 
over the next 100 years. It is not unusual to have walls adjacent to the sea to 
protect the land behind them, and they are common along the coast in Teignbridge.  
The new sea wall would be visible from the coast, but would not be visible from the 
town side of the railway line.  The external appearance would be similar to the new 
wall on Marine Parade although it is noted that the panels would be placed 
horizontally rather than vertically on the wall around the station as shown in the 
image below: 

 

 
 
 
 

1.55. From the Lawns there is an important view under the Colonnades Viaduct to 
the sea.  This is of high value to the town as it is one of the few locations that the 
proximity to the sea is apparent.  There would be an impact on this view from the 

38



 

 

new high level pedestrian walkway that would be constructed on the seaward side 
of the viaduct to carry the promenade over the river to connect with Marine Parade.  
It would be at a higher level than the viaduct and would be concrete structure with 
railings on the parapet walls.  An image of this view is below: 

 

 
 
 

1.56. The proposed pedestrian link bridge would increase the built form visible at 
the viaduct, although it would be sited behind the existing bridge.  
 

1.57. As originally submitted the design of the link bridge would have had a 
detrimental impact on visual amenity because solid parapet walls were proposed.  
The design of the bridge has been amended by the changing the sides to railings, 
which would notably lessen the visual impact of the new bridge 
 

1.58. The proposed remodeling of the basin serving Dawlish water outflow 
includes provision of a new headwall to the open channel and an increase in height 
of the wall adjacent to the sea by 1.8 metres.  NR have been requested to submit 
further information to provide certainty that neither of these walls would be visible in 
the view from the town centre under the Colonnades viaduct.  This will be reported 
to Members. 
 

1.59. The proposal to remodel the outflow basin for Dawlish Water would change 
its appearance from a predominantly natural feature that appears as an extension 
to the beach, filled with sand and shingle to a hard surfaced area of public realm, 
with a taller wall marking the boundary to the sea.  This part of the proposed 
development would project the built form further onto the beach, increasing the 
urban character in this area.  Network Rail has suggested that the provision of 
seating would improve the amenity value adjacent to the beach.  It is considered 
that the success of this feature would be dependent on the finish and the quality of 
materials that are used.   
 

1.60. The proposed accessible footbridge would be a modern intervention at the 
listed station.  It would be largely obscured in views from the town centre by the 
existing station building as can be seen from the photograph below: 

39



 

 

 

 
 

1.61. It would however be visible from public areas such as the station car park, 
from the new high level promenade, the beach and the existing pedestrian bridge 
at coastguards.   It would be substantially taller than the station building with a 
height above datum level of 16.2m.  This means that it would be 9.1 metres higher 
than platform level which is at c7.1m.  The bridge has been deliberately set apart 
from the main station building in order to provide separation between the historic 
station building and the new modern bridge.   
 

1.62. NR have been requested to provide illustrative samples of the materials that 
would be used in its construction.  It would be preferable for it have as low key an 
appearance as possible in order to minimise its impact on the setting of the station.     
 

1.63. Although it would be a tall structure it would not be particularly visible in key 
vistas in the Dawlish conservation area from the town centre.   Siting it behind the 
station building would place it in a secondary location.  It is also the type of 
structure that one would expect to see at a railway station. 
 

1.64. Demolition of the Coastguards Boat Shed with the exception of the rear wall 
which would remain in situ and the lower portion of the Coastguard’s Footbridge 
steps would change the appearance of the area immediately surrounding it.  The 
loss of the Boat Shed would mean that part of the distinctive character of this 
section of the promenade would be lost, which would detract from the legibility of 
the area.  The upper part of the footbridge steps would be retained and the lower 
parts would be obscured including the granite façade.  

40



 

 

  

 
1.65. It is quite clear that the visual amenity of the area would be changed when 

viewed from the promenade and the beach.  There would be a limited visual impact 
in views from the town centre, apart from the new link bridge that would sit above 
the colonnade viaduct. The overall magnitude of change would be high due to the 
scale of the proposed development.   The visual character of the area would be 
altered through the loss of the historic palette of materials such as the limestone 
sea wall and stone faced lower elevation of the station building which would be 
replaced with a modern concrete wall the design of which is driven by the need to 
provide an engineered solution to protect the railway line from the sea.   There 
would be change from encroachment of the built form towards the sea at Dawlish 
Water basin and adjacent to the Coastguards Breakwater.  The loss of the Boat 
House would also have a negative impact on the visual amenity of the area. 

 
Impact on the Character of the Historic Environment 

 

1.66. There is a legislative requirement on Local Planning Authorities when 
determining applications that any decisions where Listed Buildings and their 
settings are a factor must address the statutory considerations of section 66(1) of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving Listed Buildings or their setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess. With regard 
to development within a Conservation Area, consideration has to be given to 
section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
or appearance of conservation areas. 
 

1.67. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out how decision-
making in respect of applications for planning permission and listed building 
consent should be carried out to ensure that heritage assets are conserved, and 
where appropriate enhanced, in a manner that is consistent with their significance 
and thereby achieving sustainable development. 
 

1.68. Paragraphs 193, 194 and 195 in the NPPF are of primary significance. 
Paragraph 193 explains that great weight should be given to the conservation of 
the heritage assets as set out in law.   
 

1.69. Paragraphs 194 and 195 however do provide some discretion and allow a 
degree of harm to a heritage asset providing this can be balanced against public 
benefit. Development which causes substantial harm is only acceptable in 
exceptional circumstances.  This is not however a simple balancing exercise but an 
assessment of whether there is justification for overriding the presumption in favour 
of preservation. 
 

1.70. Heritage assets can be either designated or non-designated.  Designated 
heritage assets include listed buildings and conservation areas.  Non designated 
heritage assets include buildings, sites, places, areas or landscapes identified by 
plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance meriting 
consideration in planning decisions but which do not meet the criteria for selection 
as designated heritage assets.  In this application the Coastguards Boat House, 
adjoining footbridge, Dawlish Water basin and the two breakwaters are all non-
designated heritage assets.   

41



 

 

 
The Following Considerations will be addressed in this Section of the Report; 

 
a) What is the significance of the designated and non-designated heritage assets?   
b) Assessment of the impact of the proposed development on the character of the 

historic environment 
c) The scale of development proposed for the site and why is this needed.  Is there a 

clear and convincing justification? 
d) What are the public benefits of the scheme? 
e) Is the harm mitigated by the scale of public benefit? 
f) Can the benefit of the development be delivered in other less harmful ways? 

 
a) What is the significance of the designated and non-designated heritage assets?   

 

1.71. Understanding the significance of heritage assets is the first step in 
considering how a development proposal would affect those assets.  Identifying the 
nature, extent and importance of the heritage asset, and the contribution of its 
setting, enables the impact and acceptability of development proposals to be 
understood.  Significance is relevant in decision making because heritage assets 
can be affected by either direct physical change or by change in their setting. 

 
1.72. Significance in terms of heritage-related planning considerations is defined in 

the glossary of the NPPF as the value of a heritage asset to this and future 
generations because of its heritage interest. Significance derives not only from a 
heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. 
 

1.73. The setting of a heritage asset is also defined in the glossary of the NPPF.   
Although views of or from an asset play an important part in the assessment of 
impacts on setting, the way in which an asset is experienced in its setting is also 
influenced by other environmental factors such as noise, dust, smell and vibration 
from other land uses in the vicinity, and by our understanding of the historic 
relationship between places. For example, buildings that are in close proximity but 
are not visible from each other may have a historic or aesthetic connection that 
amplifies the experience of the significance of each. 
 

1.74. Historic England, in their consultation response, provides a helpful 
introduction to the significance of the location which is; “Dawlish became a popular 
holiday destination in the 19th and early 20th century facilitated in part by the 
arrival of the railway. Its seaside character can be seen through the interaction of 
the town with the seafront, the characteristic white terraces and the creation of 
formal pleasure grounds around Dawlish Waters, known as the Lawns. The area 
has been designated as a conservation area, due to its special architectural and 
historic interest. 
 

1.75. The railway played a key role in making Dawlish accessible to holiday 
makers and remains a prominent structure within the town…. The station is listed 
at grade II and remains an important historic structure within the conservation area, 
illustrating the popularity of the town through the high quality of its design and 
prominent position”.  
 

42



 

 

1.76. Network Rail (NR) have submitted a detailed Heritage Statement (HS) that in 
Part A considers the significance of the heritage assets relating to the development 
proposal.  The Council’s Conservation Officer has reviewed this and there are 
some areas of disagreement between the respective historic advisors.   

 

1.77. In short, in terms of significance of heritage assets, the downside of the listed 
station building is the part of the station that will be most impacted upon.  Its 
seaward elevation has a unique appearance derived from the distinctive ‘Arsenale” 
form at lower ground floor level with a more refined appearance at the upper level.  
It is clearly visible from the beach and the adjoining walkway which forms part of 
the SW coast path.  In NR’s HS it is accorded medium significance, which in the 
opinion of the Council’s Conservation Officer downplays its significance. 
 

1.78. The railway line and station platforms are accorded medium significance in 
NR’s HS.  It recognises that from the platforms the visitor is able ‘to appreciate long 
views that is rare from a train station platform’. This is also the case from the 
upside platform because of the permeability of the railings on the seaward side.   
 

1.79. The Seawall and Promenade are considered by the Council’s conservation 
officer to be linked together as they are an integrated structure, the promenade 
acting as a toe to the upper sea wall.  In NR’s HS they are accorded low 
significance.   The Council’s Conservation officer disagrees with this noting the 
total integration with the downside station (high significance), and that they 
reinforce one another.   
 

1.80. The Colonnade Viaduct and Dawlish Water basin have diminished 
significance as a certificate of immunity from listing has been issued.  Coastguards 
footbridge, and the Boat House are of less significance than the station because 
they are not listed.  However they are all non-designated heritage assets within the 
Dawlish conservation area and are connected to the railway, contributing to the 
significance of the station.    

 
1.81. As identified above Dawlish Conservation Area is a designated heritage 

asset.  The majority of the application site is within the conservation area boundary.   
 

1.82. The Dawlish Conservation Area Appraisal categorises the station as an 
outstanding building.  This is a category of building described as “a highlight of any 
conservation area” and it applies to all Listed buildings.  It is noted that the 
Coastguards footbridge and the Boat House are not referred to in the conservation 
appraisal.  The view from the York gardens and the station platform is referred to 
as “the most memorable view of Dawlish” in the appraisal.    
 

1.83. In the conservation area management plan it is assessed that it is the 
insensitive treatment of existing, historic buildings that has most eroded the area’s 
distinctive architectural and historic qualities. These changes seriously threaten the 
value and integrity of the ‘conservation resource’ and if repeated will cause 
additional harm unless a more conservative approach is adopted.  Therefore the 
Council will seek to encourage such a conservative approach in relation to changes 
in the area with a view to: 
“halting any further loss of buildings or features which are of value in terms of their 
special interest and character and the positive contribution they make towards 
creating the area’s local identity”. 
 

43



 

 

1.84. Opportunities for ‘character –enhancing’ improvements area identified such 
as the provision of new paving and lighting.  In terms of resurfacing the appearance 
of Albert Street and the steps down from Exeter Road to Beach Street are 
identified as exemplifying best practice. 

 

44



 

 

b) Assessment of the impact of the proposed development on the character of the historic 
environment 

 

1.85. To assess whether a proposal would cause harm, consideration should be 
given to the impact of the proposed development on the significance of the heritage 
asset.  The National Planning Policy Framework sets out that, significance derives 
not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.  Where 
potential harm to designated heritage assets is identified, it needs to be 
categorised as either less than substantial harm or substantial harm.    

 
1.86. Whether a proposal causes substantial harm is a judgment for the decision-

maker, having regard to the circumstances of the case and the policy in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. In general terms, substantial harm is 
identified as a high test. 
 

1.87. Advice in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) explains that in 
assessing whether a proposal causes substantial harm, an important consideration 
is whether the adverse impact seriously affects a key element of its special 
architectural or historic interest. It is the degree of harm to the asset’s significance 
rather than the scale of the development that should be assessed. The harm could 
arise from works to the asset or from development within its setting.   
 

1.88. The Council’s Conservation Officer assesses the impact of the proposed 
development as being substantial harm.  He justifies this by explaining that all the 
vernacular character of the current sea wall, the lower-level promenade, the lower 
storeys of the seaward side of the downside station; the decorative elements to the 
coastguard footbridge, and the Boat House will be lost. Either buried beneath the 
new sea wall, or demolished.  The effect on the setting from the sea, and from the 
land, will be that views from the seaward side will be entirely different from that 
which they have been since the mid-19th century. The views from the landward 
side, both within and without the conservation area, will have a very different 
aspect towards the sea – from the upside platform passengers either seated, or 
alighting will have their views of the sea curtailed. He considers that the totality of 
the impact and change cannot be underestimated.  
 

1.89. Historic England summarise the impact of the proposal as: “the works will 
alter the visitor’s experience of the historic seaside resort in view of the seafront 
and the historic connection of the town to the beach. It will also impact on the 
station building, through the loss of part of its platform but also a significant change 
to the setting of the station”.  
 

1.90. The impact on the heritage assets affected by the proposed development is 
described in more detail below; 

 

45



 

 

The Station 

1.91. Where the greatest impact of the proposed development would occur as the 
lower ground floor is the sea wall and it will be encased in a concrete wall, and the 
platform will be altered with a new wall being constructed to separate it from the 
promenade.  In public views from the beach and the existing promenade (which 
forms part of the SW coastal path) the change will be significant and will alter the 
setting of the station.  The granite lower ground floor wall, with its complex returns 
and recessed arches would be obscured.  The building is currently articulated 
along this elevation, with a narrow gable facing south with interest created through 
a varied building line.  The proposed new wall and elevated promenade would not 
follow the existing form of the building as happens currently, and would be 
constructed with a linear form.  The use of concrete panels for the new wall would 
introduce a modern material to this elevation of the building.  In the listing 
description one of the reasons for designation of the station is explained as 
“thoughtful consideration has been given to the appearance and prominence of the 
station on both the town and seaward side”. This part of proposal would be a 
notable modern intervention to the building.  Historic England advise that this “will 
result in the building being removed from its functional role as a part of the sea 
defence and will be a considerable loss of the building’s significance”. 

 
1.92. A key aspect of the station building is its location adjacent to the beach and 

the sea.  This siting contributes to the distinctive character of the station.  Currently 
users of the station can appreciate the coastal location from both the upside and 
downside platforms as there are extensive views up and down the coast from the 
elevated level of the platform above the beach.  This would change as a result of 
the proposal.  The proposed new promenade would be at platform level and would 
result in increased separation of platforms from the beach both physically and 
visually.  To separate the new promenade from the station platform a 1.5m wall 
would be constructed with a fence on top of it.  Views from the station platform 
would be largely obscured by the new wall.  Dawlish is a tourist resort and the 
experience of the visitor is relevant.  The current ‘wow’ factor from the proximity to 
the sea will be diminished by the development.   
 

1.93. The proposal would necessitate the loss of the cast iron columns under the 
southern end of the platform, which make a distinctive visual contribution when 
viewed from the promenade and beach.  Although these aren’t original and were 
placed there in the 1940s they do have historic significance, which is reinforced by 
this part of the platform being included within the area of the station that is listed.  
NR are proposing to reuse these columns for wayfinding although no specific 
scheme of reuse has been included in the submission.  The Town Council has 
requested that any columns which are unused be given to them which NR have 
agreed to.  HE has advised that “opportunities should explored to accommodate 
the columns in a more meaningful way related to the significance of the listed 
building. The proposed reuse of the columns would be a positive initiative.” Further 
clarification of how this could be achieved was requested and NR have advised 
that they propose to use them for heritage signage and platform furniture signage 
in addition to wayfinding.  It would be appropriate to impose a condition requiring a 
detailed schedule of reuse to be agreed with the LPA.   

 

46



 

 

1.94. The timber cantilevered platform to the north of the station building, is not 
included in the area of the listing but is considered to be protected by virtue of its 
attachment to the station building.  This has been repaired many times, and was 
extended in the 1930s.   HE advises that its loss will impact upon the significance 
of the station and consequently due to the loss of an element of the listed building 
sufficient robust information must be provided in order to assess the impact and 
determine whether there is sufficient justification for its loss.   As this part of the 
platform has been extensively repaired the original materials are no longer present 
which means that its loss has less significance in terms of the historic character of 
the station.  It is also noted that it would not be strong enough or wide enough to 
accommodate the new accessible footbridge that would provide an improved 
facility for station users.  
 

1.95. Construction of the new accessible footbridge would constitute a modern 
intervention to the station.  It would be sited to the north of the existing building so 
that there would be a clear separation between the two structures.  The scale of 
the bridge is notably larger than the station building, particularly in terms of height.  
HE comment that “the two uprights squared lift towers form a significant and 
dominant structures within views of the station. This is further exacerbated by the 
choice of Patterned Glass Reinforced Concrete (GRC), the hard finish of which will 
add to the visual dominance of the proposed footbridge:…. We would advise that 
further consideration is given to the design of the structure. This should aim to 
address the shape and hard finish of the proposed towers, whose upper sections 
would benefit from greater refinement in their design. This could be through the 
choice of materials, colour and the creation of a greater texture or motif to break up 
the stark quality of the current design”.  The Council’s Conservation Officer has 
also commented on this part of the application saying “it is a great pity that the 
attractive polygonal shape of the footbridge platform is not complemented by a 
slight batter to the outer sides of the lift towers, in an echo of the angled glacis of 
the station understorey, and sea wall”. 

 

1.96. NR have been asked to review the external finish of the proposed footbridge 
and to provide further illustrative material showing what it will look like.   
 

1.97. The proposed conservation works to the downside waiting room constitute a 
clear heritage gain.  The station building currently forms part of the sea defence 
which means that it is exposed to all weather conditions and wave action.  The 
downside rooms are in poor condition and currently unusable.  Some of the 
windows are protected by Perspex.  The provision of the new sea wall presents an 
opportunity for this part of the station to be brought back into use.  In NR’s HS at 
appendix C there is a schedule of works proposed for the building.  The Council’s 
Conservation officer has advised that a full building survey should be carried out to 
inform the programme of works that will be carried out, which should be based 
upon these works.  There is some ambiguity in NRs submission as to the extent of 
the refurbishment works proposed and this needs to be clarified in order to be 
certain of how much heritage gain would be derived from the proposal.  It is 
appropriate to address securing the refurbishment works through a condition which 
should include the timing of these works, a method statement for their 
implementation and details of the drying out process.   

 

47



 

 

Dawlish Water Basin 

1.98. The proposal is to change the existing basin that currently appears as part of 
the beach, covered in sand and shingle with a low wall to the sea to an entirely 
hard surfaced area of public realm which rather than following existing ground 
levels as it does currently, will incorporate raised deck areas with steps down to the 
existing levels.  Public access over the area will be controlled by barriers that 
prevent use of the basin area and the steps.  The sea wall would be increased in 
height by 1.8m which would impact views out to sea.  By hard surfacing this area it 
would push the built form further east towards the sea.   The magnitude of change 
to this area would be high, and would impact views related to the conservation 
area.   
 

1.99. In order to understand whether this hard surfaced intervention is the optimum 
design for the area NR were asked to provide more detail of the options that they 
considered for design and an explanation of why this approach was selected.  It is 
explained that provision of the new sea wall, promenade and link bridge means 
that the public realm would need to be extended 5 metres into the basin area.  A 
reduced basin area was tested for resilience and it was found that it would not 
provide sufficient protection for the railway line and would have a negative impact 
in terms of flood risk in the colonnades area.   
 

1.100. The Environment Agency (EA) has suggested that the approach to the 
appearance could be more informal with a less regimented design of the steps.   
This has not been taken up by NR.   

 
1.101. Whether this design would be successful in terms of creating a high quality 

area of public realm would largely depend on the choice of materials that would be 
used and the attention to detail in delivering them.  The hard surfaced areas of 
public realm would be finished in grey and pink granite with new benches in large 
pink granite blocks.  The surface of the basin would be rough finished concrete and 
incorporate artificial rock pools.  This would result in a better quality finish than if it 
had been surfaced in concrete as the majority of the promenade will be.   
 

48



 

 

Colonnade Viaduct 

1.102. As stated above the new pedestrian overbridge would notably impact views 
towards the sea by reason of it being visible from the Lawns.  The revised parapet 
detail is welcomed and would lessen the visual impact compared to the originally 
proposed solid parapet.    The proposed new bridge would be visible from the 
Dawlish conservation area, and would increase the built form in views towards the 
sea.  A visual impression of this view is below; 

 

 

 
 

49



 

 

The Coastguards Bridge and Boat House 

1.103. The proposal would result in encasing the lower section of steps to the 
bridge within the new wall and the Boat House would be completely demolished.  
These two changes would inevitably impact on the appearance and character of 
Dawlish conservation area through the loss of these non-designated heritage 
assets.   It is noted that the steps are outside the boundary of the conservation 
area.  They are both historic structures that make a positive contribution to the 
character of the area.  There is a historic link between the Coastguards cottages, 
the footbridge and the Boat House.  HE advise that they are “interesting structures 
in their own right, both contributing to the significance of the listed station (as 
derived from its setting) and the conservation area.” 

 
1.104. The design of the new public realm around what would be the former Boat 

House is sensitive to the building.   Although it would go some way to mitigating the 
loss of the building, it would not totally offset the impact of demolition on the 
significance of Dawlish Conservation Area.   
 

1.105. The upper part of the stairway would be retained although the lower section 
which includes decorative paired lancet windows would be lost.  Although not in the 
conservation area as it is immediately adjacent to the boundary it would inevitably 
have a negative impact on the appearance and character of the conservation area.   
 

1.106. The magnitude of change in this area would be increased by the 
considerable changes to the levels of the promenade in this area.   A good 
illustration of this is the Conservation Officer’s comment that “the raising and 
infilling would come to present eaves level” of the Boat House.  Additionally the line 
of the new sea wall would project out towards the sea to a greater extent because 
of the current alignment of the wall which would increase the extent of the built 
form adjacent to Coastguards breakwater.   

 

50



 

 

c) Is there a clear and convincing justification for the scale of development proposed for 
the site and why it is needed?   

 

1.107. Para. 194 in the NPPF states that any harm to or loss of significance of a 
designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification and 
substantial harm to grade II listed buildings should be exceptional.  Para. 190 
requires consideration of the development to also address alternative options, to 
robustly ensure that the scheme can be demonstrated to be the least harmful while 
achieving similar public benefits.  
 

1.108. The onus is the local planning authority to rigorously test the necessity of any 
harmful works. 
 

1.109. It is recognised in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) that 
harmful development may sometimes be justified in the interests of realising the 
optimum viable use of an asset, notwithstanding the loss of significance caused, 
and provided the harm is minimised. 
 

1.110. In their consultation response Historic England comment on justification of 
the development where they advise that the Council needs to ensure that clear and 
convincing justification has been provided for the resulting harm caused by both 
the loss of the metal columns under the south west part of the station platform, and 
the loss of the overhanging platform to the north east of the station.  They advise 
that “where loss of significance is identified, the council will need to ensure that 
robust justification has been provided, to allow them to rigorously assess the 
potential impact.” 
 

1.111. The threat to this section of the railway line is quite simply from the sea and 
the need to protect the station and the railway line from overtopping as a result of 
wave action is the driving force behind the design of the proposed development. 

 
1.112. Network Rail explain in their covering letter accompanying the application 

that the works are “first and foremost proposed to provide coastal resilience to the 
railway and railway station to stop the overtopping of the sea onto the track and 
station which at times currently restricts access to the travelling public wanting to 
visit the town. In addition to the resilience works as a result of the request of the 
Town Council and Councillors the project also proposes a fully accessible 
pedestrian lift bridge and other accessibility improvements to the station to promote 
the use of the station for all”.   
 

1.113. In NR’s Heritage Statement it states that the current sea wall is inadequate to 
protect the existing structures from the sea and the new sea wall is necessary to 
ensure the long-term survival of the heritage assets such as the station and the 
railway line itself. 
 

51



 

 

1.114. It is accepted that the principle of carrying out works to protect the railway 
line is necessary, particularly when considering the projected sea level rise of 1 
metre in the next 100 years and recent storm events.  The station’s purpose is as 
an integral part of the railway network, and it needs to continue to be able to 
function to provide access for passengers.   Resilience works have been carried 
out to the north of this section (Riviera Terrace) where the line failed in 2014 and to 
the south at Marine Parade.  It is logical that this stretch of the line should also be 
protected.  It is clearly apparent that intervention is needed to provide increased 
protection to the station and the railway line.   
 

1.115. It is also relevant given the magnitude of the impact on the historic 
environment to test the design and scale of the proposed development in order to 
ensure that harm to heritage assets is minimised.   

 
1.116. The background to designing a tall sea wall to protect the railway line is that 

NR considered other options including off shore breakwater and beach 
nourishment.  This is addressed in the submitted “Sea Defence Option Selection 
Summary”.   
 

1.117. The initial long list of options that were identified included do minimum; a 
vertical wall with high promenade; a vertical wall with low promenade; recurve 
shielding and raised crest levels; standalone wall with promenade on top; sloped 
rock revetment; and offshore breakwaters.  
 

1.118. These were evaluated using a weighted multi-criteria matrix which included 
visual impact and heritage preservation.  The option of an off shore breakwater 
was recommended for sections A (Dawlish Water), B (Dawlish Water to Station) 
and C (Station building) but not for the remainder of the development and therefore 
it was not taken forward.   
 

1.119. Two off shore breakwater designs were considered; 
 

 High breakwaters – approximately 80m offshore with a crest level of approximately 
+7mAOD 

 Low breakwaters and sea wall or beach – a breakwater approximately 80m offshore 
with a crest level of approximately +4mAOD 

 
1.120. The report notes that both options would require extensive works to seawalls 

and platform to guarantee the structural performance of the seawall for the next 
100 years although the extent of what these works would be is not detailed.   
 

1.121. There were a number of reasons why a breakwater was not considered 
which include negative visual impact on the view from the shore, cost, 
maintenance, impact on Dawlish Water flow, negative impact on water quality and 
health and safety risks.   
 

52



 

 

1.122. The design of both a vertical wall with a high level promenade and a low 
level promenade was tested for sections D, E and F using 2D modelling and it was 
concluded that the wall with the low level promenade did not perform effectively.  
This meant that for this part of the development a high level wall would be needed.  
Further consideration was given to whether a low level promenade could be 
provided for sections A, B and C but this was discounted due to difficulty in 
providing the transition between levels.  The optimum design solution was found to 
be a wall with a high level walkway along the entire length of the site.  This 
effectiveness of this was tested in 3D situation at HR Wallingford.   
 

1.123. Addressing the threat from the sea through beach management was also 
considered, although this would have needed to have been delivered in 
conjunction with some of the other options that would not have provided resilience.  
Beach management would involve capital beach nourishment as well as the 
installation/upgrade of a range of coastal protection structures and terminal 
groynes (Colonnade and Coastguards breakwaters). 
 

1.124. NR concluded that the whole-life cost of any solution involving beach 
management would be considerably higher than other explored solutions such as 
high-level promenade with no beach management.  In addition there would be a 
high risk of this solution not meeting the overtopping resilience requirements for 
periods of time until reactive maintenance occurs.  Therefore this solution was 
discounted.   
 

1.125. In terms of the design of the overall scheme it is acknowledged that heritage 
impact was a factor in its selection.  NR have not shared the weighting given to the 
factors that were used to assess the options.  However, it is acknowledged that any 
scheme to provide protection from the sea for the next 100 years would need to be 
robust, of an appropriate scale to address projected sea level rises and climate 
change.   It is considered that such a scheme would inevitably impact of the setting 
of the listed station building and the Dawlish conservation area given their location 
abutting the sea.   

 
1.126. In NR’s HS an attempt is made to justify each element of the proposal.  It is 

argued that the significance of elements of the development is low and therefore 
the loss of the asset is of little value.  The Council’s Conservation Officer’s opinion 
is that the only justification required is that the works are to protect the operation of 
the railway and the station.  In his view this cannot be objected to, as the extreme 
alternative is the loss of the line and the degradation of the station.   

 
1.127. The works are considered to be jusitfied. 

 

53



 

 

d) Is the harm mitigated by the scale of public benefit? 

 

1.128. Para. 193 in the NPPF reflects s66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requiring great weight to be given to the asset’s 
conservation irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm.    However flexibility in determining applications is introduced in Para. 195 of 
the NPPF, which allows for substantial harm of designated heritage assets where it 
can be demonstrated that the substantial harm is necessary to achieve substantial 
public benefits that outweigh that harm.   

 
1.129. The NPPG confirms that public benefits could be anything that delivers 

economic, social or environmental objectives as described in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (para. 8).  It explains that benefits do not always have to be 
visible or accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits, for 
example, works to a listed private dwelling which secure its future as a designated 
heritage asset could be a public benefit. 
 

1.130. As has been explained, the public benefits of the proposal can outweigh the 
strong presumption against approval which arise from concerns about the scale of 
harm on the historic environment identified in the sections above.  However, by 
law, the harm has to be given considerable weight and therefore the public benefits 
also need to be considerable to outweigh the harm.  

 

54



 

 

e) The public benefits of the development are; 

 

General 
I. This project comprises a £50 million investment in Dawlish in addition to the £30 

million already spent at Marine Parade to provide a new sea wall to protect the 
railway and the town. 

II. In addition to the above a further £6 million will be invested to provide the new 
accessible footbridge at the station.   

III. Proposal provides long term certainly for this stretch of the railway as the works 
have been designed to withstand wave action for the next 100 years.   

IV. Proposal directly relates to improvements in the delivery of a sustainable method of 
transport, thereby supporting adaption to climate change.   

 
Tourism 

I. Reconstruction of the downside platform improves accessibility for passengers 
getting on and off trains. 

II. Better beach access which is fully accessible from the downside platform. 
III. Wider, safer promenade accessible to all. 
IV. Protecting the railway also preserves the South West Coast path. 
V. Removal of pigeon roosts – leading to a cleaner walkway and improved water 

quality. 
VI. New high quality public realm created at Dawlish Water basin including podiums 

and viewing areas.  
VII. new seating, variously concrete, limestone (re-used), or granite 

VIII. improvements to the steps at coastguards footbridge 
 

Better for passengers 
I. Improving resilience means more reliable train services. 

II. Better experience for passengers at the station who are currently exposed to the 
elements 

III. Downside platform waiting room would be brought back into use.   
IV. Fully accessible footbridge is safer than the current barrow crossing and will be 

open whenever trains are running so passengers with reduced mobility will no 
longer need to travel via Newton Abbot.  

 
Heritage 

I. Increased protection for the Grade II listed Dawlish station building, which is used 
by more than half a million people a year. 

II. Allows upgrades to the station building and will bring mothballed areas back into 
use. 

III. Heritage Interpretation boards 
IV. Re-use of material from the Coastguards Boat House 
V. Re-use of the Pier Posts/gas lamp standards 

VI. Recording of the historical interest of the heritage assets affected.   
 

55



 

 

Economy 
I. Work on the sea wall has boosted the local economy. By the time Marine Parade 

has finished, NR will have spent almost £5m on local labour, materials and 
accommodation. 

II. NR expect to spend even more locally potentially double that while constructing the 
remaining section of the wall. 

III. Blockages on this section of the line prevent any operation of the railway network to 
the south west, impacting Newton Abbot, Plymouth, Torquay, and Truro etc.  

 

Biodiversity 

I. Marine wildlife traps, and habitat niches in the basin area.  
II. Enhancement to the pocket park 

 
1.131. This application relates to a unique case where there is an operational 

station building and associated railway track in an exposed location immediately 
adjacent to the sea.  Whilst the proximity to the sea results in a distinctive and high 
quality visual experience for users, and makes a positive contribution to the tourism 
role of the town, it also generates a threat to the function and operation of the 
station during extreme weather events.  As a result of climate change these events 
are predicted to increase in intensity and frequency.  The storm event in 2014 
when the railway had to close for 6 weeks provides evidence of the impact that the 
elements can have on the operation of the railway.  Network Rail have also 
provided photographic images of the track bed and station platform being flooded 
as a result of wave overtopping, as can be seen below: 

 

 
 

1.132. When the track is flooded it is not possible to run trains along this section of 
the line and through the station beyond to south Devon and Cornwall.  This results 
in closure of the line and a need for busses to be used to move passengers along 
this stretch of the network or cancellation of train services.  Some cancellation of 
train services occurs during most winters.  
 

56



 

 

1.133. The key public benefit from this proposal is the increased protection that will 
be provided to the railway network, including the station.   The development that is 
proposed would enable operation of this section of the network and the station to 
continue for the next 100 years.  This will secure the long term future and 
operational capability of both the railway and the station building.  Without this 
intervention given the projected sea level rises resulting from climate change, the 
operational ability to run the railway and to maintain the fabric of the station would 
be at risk. This proposal would secure the optimum viable use for the purpose built 
station building which has been on this site for 145 years.   
 

1.134. The Peninsular Rail Task Force (PRTF) has written in support of the 
application.  They advise that the closure of the rail line for 6 weeks in 2014 was a 
significant disruption to passengers and had an estimated cost to the South West 
Economy in excess of an estimated £1.2billion.  They believe the proposed 
investment will give businesses, communities and visitors confidence in the rail 
network, which will support inward investment.  
 

1.135. The public benefit from the proposed development would be significantly 
greater than district wide as this is the only rail line to the south west serving 
Cornwall,  Plymouth, Newton Abbot and Torbay.  The economic impact to this area 
including to tourim would be high if the railway line was not operational.   
 

1.136. NR have identified that there would be benefits to the local economy during 
the construction phase which is understood to be around 2 years, from both the 
use of local labour and local companies to supply products.  They have advised 
that the budget for this phase of the development would be approx. double that of 
Marine Parade and therefore they expect to invest around £10million locally which 
would be a notable benefit to the local economy.  It is noted that the PRTF advise 
that “the South West economy has been hit disproportionately by the impacts of 
COVID 19, with 7 of the 20 worst affected districts in the UK.” 

 

1.137. There would be some heritage gain as a result of the proposal.  The 
reinstatement of the downside platform building in its entirety would provide a 
public benefit through an improvement in facilities for users of the station.  The 
downside building at the station is in a poor state of repair and the rooms here are 
currently unusable.  There has been water penetration and constant wave action 
from the sea has meant that the windows have been protected by perspex which 
impacts the external appearance of the building.  Restoring the station, and 
bringing these rooms back into use is a clear public benefit.   
 

1.138. In initial pre application discussions with NR the new accessible footbridge 
was not included in the development scheme and had not been included in the 
funding from the Department of Transport.  Following a request for provision of a 
bridge to incorporate a lift from the Town Council NR have sourced the relevant 
funding of £6m from their budget.  The improvement in accessibility at the station 
would be an important public benefit.   
 

1.139. NR has confirmed that the proposed development has committed funding 
from the Department of Transport and therefore if Prior Approval is granted there is 
certainty that it will be delivered.   
 

57



 

 

1.140. In this report it has been identified that the proposed development would 
result in substantial harm to the station building, its setting and to non-designated 
heritage assets including the Boat House and Coastguards footbridge which 
contribute to the setting of the listed station building.   The proposal would also 
have a harmful impact on the appearance and character of Dawlish Conservation 
Area through the significant change to the appearance of the southern elevation of 
the station building, and the visual intrusion of the pedestrian bridge adjacent to the 
Colonnades and the height and scale of the accessible bridge at the station.   
 

1.141. The identified substantial harm to the listed station building and its setting 
carries great weight in the decision making process.  Similarly ensuring that this 
sustainable method of transport can continue to operate carries significant weight.  
Officers conclude that there is a clear and convincing justification for the proposed 
development.  Put simply it is needed to continue to run the railway and to protect 
the station building from wave action.  There are many public benefits of the 
development which have more than district wide significance as providing 
protection to this stretch of the railway impacts connectivity to the country to the 
south west of Dawlish.  Conversely although the development would create 
substantial harm to the station building it would also ensure its longevity for the 
next 100 years, and enable it to continue in its existing use.   For this reason it is 
concluded that the public benefits would materially outweigh the harm to the listed 
station building and the Dawlish Conservation Area.   

 

58



 

 

f) Can the benefit of the development be delivered in other less harmful ways? 

 

1.142. A number of recommendations have been identified which would reduce the 
harm of the development to heritage assets.  Both HE and the Council’s 
Conservation Officer have suggested that the design of the accessible bridge at the 
station and the materials used could be more sympathetic to the station.   
 

1.143. NR have revised the design of the footbridge adjacent to the Colonnades 
viaduct which will remove the solid parapet walls and replace them with visually 
lighter sides.   
 

1.144. HE have drawn attention to the reuse of the former gas standards and the 
heritage gain that would result from this.  NR have confirmed their commitment to 
achieving this, and have included the principles of how they could be re-used.  
Agreement of a detailed scheme for re-use would need to be addressed by 
condition. 
 

1.145. The Council’s Conservation Officer has suggested three alternative ways of 
treating the new sea wall adjacent to the station to ensure that the historic value of 
the existing sea wall is respected.  He qualifies these recommendations on the 
basis that;  “in all cases, whatever solution is adopted, the extra relief will add 
interest, and highlight history, to an otherwise monumental and unrelieved sea wall, 
whose obscuration of the town, impact on the conservation area, and 
transformation of the setting will all tend to the monotonous”. These are (in 
descending order of design benefit); 
 
o The panels to the sea wall, from the boundary with the listed building area, up to 

the Coastguard Breakwater should be limestone, not concrete. Where the lower 
area of the Coastguard’s bridge abutment and stair is lost to the raised sea wall 
the panels should be fabricated in relief that the ‘ghost’ of the lost lower area, 
with its quoined buttress, paired-and-keystoned lancet windows, its handrail 
coping, and plinth echoes the buried structure within.  

 
o The panels representing the lost lower abutment and stair, with its quoined 

buttress, paired-and-keystoned lancet windows, its handrail coping, and plinth 
only should be in limestone; the sea wall, as elsewhere continues in concrete.  

 
o The panels should remain in concrete but be fabricated in high contrast relief: 

colour, texture etc., such that the ‘ghost’ of the lost lower bridge abutment and 
stair, with its quoined buttress, paired-and-keystoned lancet windows, its 
handrail coping, and plinth, echoes the buried structure.  

 
1.146. NR have been asked to respond to these recommendations, and their 

comments are awaited and will be reported.   
 

59



 

 

1.147. The extent of the harm to the heritage assets identified above is due 
principally to the scale and form of the new sea wall that is needed to provide 
protection to the railway line and the design life of the scheme of 100 years.  NR 
have evaluated alternative solutions to provide resilience to the railway such as off 
shore breakwaters and have discounted these due to cost and because any off 
shore solution would still necessitate improvements to the sea wall, continuing to 
raise the issues addressed here.   NR’s evaluation of alternative approaches is 
comprehensive and is supported by a detailed Options Selection Report.  It is not 
considered that there is an obvious alternative design solution for the form of 
development proposed.   
 

1.148. In conclusion, NR have submitted a detailed justification for their selection of 
a new higher sea wall to increase the resilience of the railway line.  Given the 
requirement that the scheme delivers resilience for 100 years it is difficult to argue 
that an alternative form of wave protection would be viable and preferable.   
 

1.149. There are however opportunities to achieve a form of development that is 
more sympathetic to heritage assets.  The Council’s conservation officer has made 
three alternative suggestions on how the new wall could be sympathetically 
detailed adjacent to the station.  In addition the proposed accessible lift bridge 
would be a substantial structure and the detail of this is an important consideration.  
These issues need to be resolved before a conclusion can be reached on whether 
the benefits can be delivered in less harmful ways.   

 

Flood Risk and Drainage 
 

1.150. The application site includes the point where Dawlish Water, which is 
classified as a main river by the Environment Agency (EA), discharges to the sea.  
Prior to Dawlish Water entering the sea it passes through an existing culvert 
beneath the promenade.   
 

1.151. A flood risk assessment (FRA) has been submitted in support of the 
application. This identifies that the site is partially located within Flood Zone 3, 
which carries the highest level of risk.  It notes that flooding from the sea has 
occurred frequently in the area.  In addition the proposal is partially located within 
the functional flood plan (Flood Zone 3b) of a main river.  The TDC Level 1 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) defines all land in Flood Zone 3 to be 
considered as functional floodplain until demonstrated otherwise by an FRA or 
other study. In addition parts of the site are at high risk of fluvial (from a river) 
flooding.  The EA’s ‘Risk of Flooding from Surface Water mapping indicates that 
much of the site is at low risk of surface water flooding.  The FRA states that the 
site is considered to be at low risk from pluvial flooding, sewer flooding, 
groundwater flooding.   
 

1.152. Designation within Flood Zone 3 means that the annual probability of the site 
being flooded by a river or sea is more than 1 in 100, i.e. there is 1% or greater 
probability of flooding from rivers or 0.5% or greater probability of flooding from the 
sea flooding in any given year. 
 

60



 

 

1.153. When considering proposed development within a flood zone it is necessary 
to consider the vulnerability classification of the development as defined in the 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).  In this case the station access, 
platforms and footbridge are considered to be ‘Essential Infrastructure’. As part of 
the site is within Flood Zone 3b it is necessary to apply both the sequential test and 
the exception test to assess whether the development is acceptable in flood risk 
terms.   
 

1.154. In the submitted FRA it is concluded that the development passes the 
sequential test because essential infrastructure uses are elevated out of the fluvial 
floodplain. In addition, the proposed flood defences will provide a significant 
reduction in flood risk from the sea to the site.  It concludes that it also passes the 
exception test because the development would provide wider sustainable benefits 
to the community and the essential infrastructure would remain above fluvial flood 
levels and would reduce overtopping from the sea for the 100-year lifetime of the 
proposed sea defences. The development is designed to reduced flood risk overall 
for all users.   

 
1.155. Officers agree with this position for the reasons set out. 

 
1.156. The TDC SFRA identifies Potential Flood Risk Areas, which are areas 

outside the EA Flood Zones but with an estimated 1% probability (or 1 in 100 years 
or greater) flood extent. This shows that parts of the site are at risk of flooding from 
river and sea sources. 
 

1.157. In the FRA the probability of surface water flooding has been assessed using 
the EA Surface Water Flood Risk mapping, and various site information. The 
majority of the site has a low probability of surface water flooding. There is a high 
likelihood of localised flooding at Colonnades underbridge. 
 

1.158. It is relevant to consider that climate change will impact the risk of flooding. 
In terms of flood risk from the sea the Environment Agency Coastal Flood 
Boundary Dataset (CFBD) shows that: 

 
I. The current day Mean High Water Springs water level is approximately 

2.2mAOD with a 1 in 1-year water level (including surge) of 2.8mAOD. By 2065 
these levels will have risen to approximately 2.6m and 3.2mAOD respectively 
rising to 3.1m and 3.7mAOD in 2115. 

II. Current wave heights are 2.55m for a 1 in 1-year storm and 4.00m for a 1 in 
200-year storm. The projected 2115 wave heights with climate change are 
2.61m for a 1 in 1-year storm and 4.24m for a 1 in 200-year storm. 

 
1.159. The existing promenade level ranges between approximately 3.7 and 3.9m 

AOD. At the colonnade, ground level lowers to approx. 3.3mAOD and falls back 
towards the colonnade underbridge, which is at a level of between 2.9 -3.25mAOD 
approx. 
 

61



 

 

1.160. Due to the relative levels of the ground and the sea, the existing promenade 
and in particular the colonnade area can be expected to experience frequent 
flooding from the sea in the current day; indeed, this flooding is known to occur. By 
2065, the area will be regularly flooded by still water levels.  
 

1.161. Current day severe storms impact the railway at 6mAOD and the platforms at 
7mAOD approx. resulting in flooding and closures of the railway. With climate 
change this will occur more frequently. 
 

1.162. The proposed sea wall would significantly reduce the frequency and severity 
of overtopping incidents.  Both numerical modelling and physical modelling have 
been carried out to confirm that the proposed development would meet overtopping 
performance criteria relating to reduction in flood risk from the sea due to wave 
overtopping.   
 

1.163. Encroachment of approximately 2,260m² into the tidal flood plain is proposed 
as a result of the sea wall construction. In addition, the proposed public realm at 
the colonnade will result in encroachment into the tidal flood plain of approximately 
620m². In the FRA it is stated that the resulting reduction in tidal flood storage is 
considered negligible. 
 

1.164. In terms of existing surface water drainage arrangements, there is a total of 
fifty-four outfalls through the existing sea wall, most of which lead from the track 
ballast on the railway line. A number are blocked or connect to a redundant 
drainage system, however the majority drain the track directly onto the existing 
promenade. In addition, around a hundred outfalls placed approximately 1m above 
the level of the track also drain to the promenade.  
 

1.165. The promenade slopes towards the sea and surface water flows overland to 
the beach. Low level weep holes at approx. 1mAOD connect to the beach at 
approx.6m spacing towards the east end of the site. These are assumed to be 
retaining wall drainage. 
 

1.166. In the proposed development widening of the existing station platforms is 
proposed to improve passenger safety and experience. Small modifications will be 
made to the platform levels to facilitate drainage away from the tracks and into dish 
channels or covered drains. Drainage outfalls will be provided through the new sea 
wall which connect to new seaside track drainage and the existing track ballast 
drainage at the station. The new landside platform and access drainage will 
connect to the existing car park drainage system. Increase in catchment area 
drainage to Dawlish Water has been determined to be negligible. 
 

1.167. There is an EA requirement not to impact flows from Dawlish Water, however 
flooding from the river source does not impact rail operations and therefore is not a 
focus for this scheme.  The scheme has no remit to improve the existing fluvial 
flood condition that occurs on the site. However, it is important that fluvial flood risk 
is not increased as a result of the proposed development. This is achieved by 
providing increased flow capacity in the proposed extension of the Dawlish Water 
compared to the existing culvert and channel. The proposed extension to the 
existing Dawlish Water outfall culvert on site provides increased capacity to allow 
the existing culvert to be upgraded in the future. 

 

62



 

 

1.168. Flood risk management measures are necessary for the residual fluvial risk 
after the development is complete. As outlined in the NPPF, it is imperative that the 
proposed development is designed to be safe and that safe access and egress are 
provided. 

 
1.169. The areas where flood related risks will remain are as follows: 

 
I. Fluvial flood risk will remain in the Dawlish Water flood plain. The colonnade 

underbridge is located within the flood plain. 
II. Flood risk from the sea will remain high in the lower public realm area at the 

colonnade and this will continue to flood regularly. 
III. Overtopping is expected to affect the promenade and station in severe flood events 

from the sea. 
 

1.170. Fixed warning and escape route signs are proposed on the landward side of 
the railway at the Colonnade Viaduct and Coastguards Bridge to inform the public 
about flood risk. 
 

1.171. The Environment Agency has confirmed that they have no objection to the 
proposed development and advised that before the works around the Dawlish 
Water culvert and stilling basin can commence a Flood Risk Activity Permit (FRAP) 
will be required.  They have also advised that they consider the redesigned 
Dawlish Water Basin and the proposed works as a whole should deliver a 
Biodiversity Net Gain for intertidal habitat.  They make a number of 
recommendations for this which are; 
 

I. Addition of some artificial rock pools or ‘verti-pools’ to walls (where there is reduced 
wave energy); 

II. Some rock pools should be shaded and more inaccessible to predators (such as 
gulls); 

III. All wetted surfaces to have a rough surface (large surface area) to encourage 
colonisation by algae and small organisms; 

IV. Inclusion of some cavities/voids to provide niche refuge for crevice dwelling 
organisms; 

V. Addition of some sinuosity/meandering as well as width and depth variation to the 
central low tide channel to look more natural and improve habitat;  

VI. Make the steps curved or less uniform (for same reasons stated above).  
 

1.172. The Lead Local Flood Authority (Devon County Council) has advised that as 
the site falls within a coastal area, it would be outside of their remit. 
 

1.173. The TDC drainage and coastal manager has requested details of the general 
principles of the track and promenade drainage be submitted in support of the 
proposed development, and advised that the detailed specification of this drainage 
could be agreed by condition.   
 

63



 

 

1.174. In conclusion, the proposed development would protect the application site 
from wave overtopping and would therefore reduce the risk of flooding from the 
sea.  This would provide additional protection for travellers using the station.  There 
is an existing risk of flooding from Dawlish Water, and the proposal would not make 
this situation worse.  It is considered that it is not reasonable to expect Network 
Rail to reduce flooding from Dawlish Water as part of their application and it is the 
responsibility of the EA to manage existing fluvial flood risk.  The proposal passes 
the Sequential ad the Exception tests. Subject to the imposition of a condition 
relating to submission of details of surface water drainage from the railway track 
and promenade the proposal would be acceptable in flood risk terms.    

 
Impact on Biodiversity  

 

1.175. The relevant biodiversity features at the site that need to be considered are; 
 

1.176. The application site is not located within a European site, however 
consideration needs to be given to the nearest European protected sites 
associated with the Exe estuary.   These are the Exe Estuary Special Protection 
Area (SPA) and Exe Estuary Ramsar site which are both 1.6km away.  The 
Dawlish Warren Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is 2.2km away.   
 

1.177. Dawlish Cliffs SSSI is located adjacent to the northern end of the station car 
park, and also includes the pocket park. The SSSI covers the area of cliffs from 
Coryton to Langstone Rock.  It is designated for its geological qualities and shows 
one of the finest continuous exposures of interbedded Aeolian sands (Dawlish 
Sands) and water-laid, breccia-filled, fluvial channels of Permian age in the 
country.  
 

1.178. On the beach there are aggregations of Honeycomb Worm (Sabellaria 
alveolata.  This is classed as a ‘feature’ of principal importance for the purpose of 
conserving biodiversity, as listed under Section 41 of the Natural Environmental 
and Rural Communities (NERC) Act, (2006).  
 

1.179. An ecological impact assessment (EcIA) and Habitat Regulation Assessment 
(HRA) have been submitted in support of the application.  The EcIA identifies the 
principal habitats, key species likely environmental constraints and initial 
recommendations for mitigation measures.  Both an intertidal biotope survey and 
an extended phase 1 habitat survey were undertaken as part of this process.  The 
main findings of these surveys were that: 
 

 Common terrestrial and intertidal habitats were recorded during the Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat survey, and terrestrial habitats within the site boundary are not of 
significant ecological value in their own right. 

 Intertidal mud/sand habitat within the survey boundary may support foraging and 
roosting birds such as waders and waterfowl. Species which could use the habitats 
on site and in the general area could include waterfowl assemblage qualifying 
species of European Sites. 

 The site is often disturbed by the public (public beach) and is of lower quality for 
foraging bird species, suggesting that the site would be used infrequently and by 
insignificant numbers of roosting or foraging birds. 

 

64



 

 

1.180. It is identified that there are potential pathways for impacts to the statutory 
designated sites: Exe Estuary SPA and Ramsar site, and Dawlish Warren SAC, 
due to hydrological connectivity, and suitable habitats in proximity to the site for 
mobile qualifying features. Exe SPA, and Ramsar site are the closest of these sites 
at 1.6km north east. Potential effects on the terrestrial features of the SAC/Ramsar 
site would be limited to changes in water quality, as a result of pollutants or high 
sediment load in surface water run-off from construction areas. In addition the 
proposed works could result in disturbance to qualifying bird species (particularly 
as a result of piling activities), if they are using nearby habitats. 
 

1.181. In terms of terrestrial impact in the conclusion the following actions were 
recommended in addition to construction environmental mitigation measures which 
will include standard pollution control measures; 

 
- Ensuring no nesting birds are present within the station structure i.e. walls and 

pipes, prior to works in this area. 
- Sensitive vegetation clearance to avoid impacts to reptiles. 
- Obtaining protected species licences from NE, where required i.e. if any bat roosts 

confirmed, and or removal of pigeon nests required. 
 

1.182. The opportunities for enhancements are identified through creation of a 
pocket park, biodiversity provisions within the Dawlish Water basin and through 
bird / bat boxes or features which could provide nesting/roosting opportunities. 
 

1.183. In respect of marine impact the Intertidal Biotope survey overall conclusion 
was that the marine habitats and species present within the survey boundary are 
generally commonly occurring and of lower importance. The presence of Sabellaria 
reef is more notable, but not linked with any European Site feature. 

 
The Recommendations are; 

 
i. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) integrating pollution 

prevention measures, barge, plant and materials management to avoid smothering 
of rocky outcrops and restoration of the beach to its current profile following 
temporary works. 

ii. Marine Transit Routeing Plan. 
iii. Biosecurity Management Plan. 
iv. Pre- and post-construction Sabellaria alveolata condition surveys. 

 
1.184. It is advised that integration of pollution prevention guidelines will be 

essential to avoid impacts on sensitive marine habitats and mitigation measures 
are to be provided to avoid access to sections of the mid- to lower shore where 
trafficking of vehicles may directly impact Sabellaria alveolata.  No direct impacts to 
Sabelleria alveolata are anticipated as works will be restricted to the sea wall and 
upper beach only. This requires a Marine Transit Route being prepared and 
followed to ensure that the barge access does not affect the rocky outcrops. 
 

1.185. The NR HRA screening assessment concludes that a likely significant effect 
on the European protected sites can be excluded.  Consequently, the Project is not 
considered to be contrary to the provisions of Regulation 63 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
 

65



 

 

1.186. In their initial consultation response Natural England (NE) requested further 
information to better inform the assessment of impact from the proposed 
development.  They raised concerns about potential significant effects on the dune 
system associated with the Dawlish Warren Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 
and bird assemblage associated with Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA)/ 
Exe Estuary Ramsar, and Dawlish Warren Cliffs (SSSI). They advise that the Local 
Planning Authority will need to undertake a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) 
before determining this application. Further information is requested in respect of: 
I. Whether wave reflection would cause indirect erosion impacts upon Dawlish 
Warren SAC dune system. 
II. potential noise impacts during the construction phase upon bird species 
associated with the Exe Estuary SPA and Exe Estuary Ramsar  
III. More detail is required to understand potential impacts to Dawlish Cliffs 
SSSI, and detailed measures to prevent impacts.  

IV. A phase 1 habitat survey of the pocket park is required to interpret the value 
of the “pocket park” and how this relates to features of the SSSI.  

 
1.187. NE recommends that a detailed Construction Environmental Management 

Plan (CEMP) will be required and possibly a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP) if mitigation measures are proposed.   
 

1.188. In respect of marine biodiversity the proposal to include a ‘Marine Transit 
Routing Plan’ within a submitted CEMP which will have the potential to reduce 
impact by activities of the jack up barge upon Sabellaria alveolata is supported as 
is the inclusion of biodiversity enhancements within the Dawlish still basin. It is also 
recommended that biodiversity net gain from the proposal should be delivered.   
 

1.189. NR have submitted further supporting information in a technical note.   This 
provides the following clarity;  

 
1.190. At the closest point, the proposed works and Dawlish Warren are separated 

by a distance in excess of 2km and any impacts of wave action on dune habitat at 
Dawlish Warren SAC will be imperceptible. 
 

1.191. Rotary drilled piling techniques will be used.  This type of bored piling 
operation is not particularly intensive regarding noise or vibration, and importantly it 
is fairly constant in its noise emission, not impulsive, with impulsivity being 
important in relation to startling reaction of birds. Noise levels corrected to a 50m 
position would be approximately 61-67dBLAeq which is well within typical 
construction noise limits.  It is advised that control measures to include the use of 
noise insulating blankets around Heras fencing at the base of the piling rig which 
can greatly reduce potential effects at source could be included in the Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that will be secured by planning 
condition. It is noted that Dawlish beach is already subject to a level of acoustic 
and visual disturbance factors. The existing railway generates noise from train 
movements, including both passenger and freight trains. 
 

1.192. It is NR’s opinion that as the Project is not subject to a planning application 
being permitted development, Network Rail are the competent authority for 
terrestrial elements of the project alongside the MMO for marine elements. 
 

66



 

 

1.193. No mitigation required to avoid, reduce or cancel potential effects on 
European Site features has been included in the proposal.  Consequently 
Appropriate Assessment is not required.   
 

1.194. NR will apply to NE for SSSI assent.  The SSSI assent will include field 
survey information that describe the current conditions of the habitat within the 
proposed pocket park area and how these relate to features of the SSSI along with 
details of measures to restore geological exposures. 
 

1.195. NE have responded and advised that on the basis of the additional 
information they are satisfied with the submission.  They recommend that the 
Council checks who the competent authority is for the purposes of the HRA 
assessment.  Advice from the Council’s Solicitor has been sought on this point. 
 

1.196. The Council’s biodiversity officer has not raised any objection to the 
application.   

 
1.197. In conclusion, Network Rail have demonstrated that they will be able to 

implement the development without causing harm to protected species, subject to 
the imposition of a robust construction environmental plan (CEMP) to ensure that 
the development is carried out in an environmentally appropriate way.  Submission 
of this detail can be addressed by condition.    There are opportunities in the 
development to enhance biodiversity through improvement of the pocket park, 
incorporation of artificial rockpools and crevices at Dawlish Water basin and 
inclusion of bat/bird boxes/bricks around the station.  These biodiversity gains will 
not meet NE’s suggested level 10% net gain, but as this is a prior approval 
application rather than a planning application it would not be appropriate to require 
this.    It is considered that there would be sufficient biodiversity enhancement from 
the development to conclude that the proposal would be acceptable in this respect.   

 
Impact on Beach Levels 

 
1.198. The same coastal morphology report submitted for the Marine Parade works 

has been submitted for this application with an additional technical note.  Members 
may recall that in the original morphology report it stated that as sea level rises, 
greater wave energy will reach the beach and the sea wall and the rate of 
beach/sediment loss will increase until the remaining material has been removed to 
bedrock.  Analysis of the beach profile data indicates that erosion of the underlying 
bedrock is at a rate of about 0.02 m/year which would continue. The slight 
advancement and increased height of the sea wall will marginally increase the 
amount of wave reflection. The increase in reflection has the potential to increase 
the rate of toe scour; and slightly faster erosion of the existing beach would occur, 
exposing the bedrock over a shorter period.  This change is only likely to be 
noticeable in the estimated time scale of 1-2 years following construction. 
 

1.199. The additional technical note is shorter and more generalized, concluding 
that the average beach encroachment from the proposed development along 
Coastguards to Colonnades frontage would be less than 3m including the localised 
areas where beach encroachment is greater than 3m. Given that beach lowering is 
a global process, it is considered that the effect of the localised advancement 
incurred with the proposed scheme is negligible with respect to the on-going 
erosion processes in the Coastguards to Colonnades frontage and therefore, 
additional coastal modelling is not required. 

67



 

 

 
1.200. The three localised areas that are referred to are the area of the new ramp 

adjacent to the station where the development would project between 3 and 7 
metres for a length of 22 metres, where the new accessible footbridge would be 
sited the proposed wall would project between 3 metres and 8.6 metres for a length 
of 47 metres and adjacent to Colonnades Breakwater the advancement would be 
to a maximum of 8.6m for a length of 47 metres.  In all these areas the further the 
advancement of the new wall the greater the water depth would be at the wall, and 
the greater the change would be compared to the current situation.  In all these 
areas the increase in water depth would be greater than 5% which is the level in 
the report identified as can be considered negligible.   
 

1.201. It is considered appropriate, given the original coastal morphology report 
identified that construction of a new sea defence wall could increase the rate of 
loss of the beach and the extent of the areas where the change in water levels 
would be greater than 5%, to impose a condition requiring the rates of erosion of 
beach levels to be monitored and should they exceed the forecast levels that an 
intervention is carried out.  The reason for this is the important role that the beach 
plays in the tourism.   

 
Impact on Amenity of the Occupiers of Surrounding Properties 

 
1.202. At the northern end of the application site, on the opposite side of the railway 

properties at The Watch House and the most southern Coastguards cottages look 
out over this stretch of the railway line, including the Coastguards breakwater and 
the Boat House.  All these properties are at a higher level than the application site 
and separated by the railway line.  Given the difference in levels there would be no 
una impact on residential amenity as a result of the proposal.   

 
Conclusion 

 
1.203. In conclusion, this is a major development that would notably change the 

appearance of the area around the Grade II listed station and stretch of railway line 
to Coastguards Breakwater, particularly from the southern (beachside) of the 
railway.  The design criteria of providing resilience for the railway line and station 
building for a period of 100 years has delivered a scheme that would increase the 
height of the sea wall by approx. 3.1m and change the low level promenade to a 
much higher level, physically separating it from its proximity to the sea.  It would 
necessitate demolition of a non-designated heritage asset (the Boat House) and 
permanent change to the grade II listed station, the coastguard’s footbridge and the 
Dawlish Water basin.  The new accessible lift bridge which would provide much 
improved access at the station but would be substantially taller than the existing 
buildings making it prominent in views across the northern part of the station.  By 
reason of the scale and form of development it is evident that the proposal would 
have a negative impact on the amenity of the area.      

 

68



 

 

1.204. Having assessed the significance of the heritage assets and the effect of the 
proposal on these assets it is concluded that the development would result in 
substantial harm to the designated heritage assets and would also be detrimental 
to the appearance and character of Dawlish conservation area.   Network Rail has 
provided justification for this level of harm by explaining that the objective of the 
development is to provide resilience to the railway network which currently fails in 
extreme weather conditions for the next 100 years.  They have an explanation of 
how they reached the design solution for the development and the alternative 
design solutions that were considered.    This is considered acceptable. 
 

1.205. By law, the conservation of heritage assets must be given great weight in the 
decision making process.   However, national planning policy does allow for 
substantial harm to heritage assets where that harm is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm.   
 

1.206. From the information submitted in support of the application it is concluded 
that the design of the development is not capable of sufficient adjustment to avoid 
or significantly reduce the harm to heritage assets.   
 

1.207. There are considerable public benefits that would result from the 
development.  A key economic benefit would be the continued operation of this 
stretch of the railway line that serves the south west of Devon and Cornwall.  At the 
request of Dawlish Town Council £6 million would be spent on providing an 
accessible lift bridge.   The impact of the proposal on the listed station would be 
high causing the entire lower ground floor to be encased in a concrete wall that 
would not by sympathetic to the design or existing material palette  However, 
conversely, the proposed alterations  would preserve the building and enable it’s 
continued optimum use as a station.  There would be a number of heritage gains 
including through the refurbishment of the buildings on the downside platform.   
 

1.208. The judgement on whether the public benefits outweigh the harm to 
designated heritage assets is a matter for the decision maker.  It is officer’s opinion 
that in this case it does, particularly as the benefits are far greater than district 
level.    
 

1.209. There are a few outstanding issues that need to be addressed by NR which 
include the design and materials for the accessible lift bridge anddetailing of the 
proposed wall adjacent to the station building.   
 

1.210. In terms of consideration of the proposal under Part 18 of the General 
Permitted Development Order 2015, subject to the satisfactory resolution of these 
matters, it is concluded that the design and scale of the proposed development 
would inevitably impact the amenity of the neighbourhood, but following the 
revisions to the scheme such as amending the appearance of the link bridge to 
Marine Parade, it is not capable of further modification to avoid injury to the 
amenity of the area and therefore the recommendation is that Prior Approval 
should be granted subject to the conditions set out at the beginning of the report.   

 

69



 

 

4. PLANNING HISTORY 
 

1.211. The relevant applications are; 
 

 19/02099LBC Refurbishment and modernisation of internal waiting area, LBC 
granted 17.01.20 

 17/02090LBC Installation of sixteen fixed focus CCTV cameras in dome enclosures, 
LBC granted 16.02.18 

 17/02025/LBC Addition of two radio microphone antennae, LBC granted 04.10.17 
 13/01290/DEM Demolition of signal box, may proceed 23.05.13 
 12/03594/LBC Retention of portal frame to the footbridge, granted 22.01.13 
 11/02347/LBC replace station footbridge span, dated 13.09.2011 

 
1.212. The following application at Marine Parade is also relevant; 

 
19/00237/NPA Application for prior approval of siting and appearance under Part 
18 Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development 
Order) 2015 of a new taller sea wall and wider promenade between Boat Cove and 
the Breakwater as part of the south west rail coastal resilience programme.  Prior 
approval granted 26.04.19 

 
5. POLICY DOCUMENTS 

 
5.1. This application is not a planning application and no reference is made to the 

development plan in the procedural requirements. In this regard normal statutory 
requirements for planning applications to be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise is not therefore 
engaged.  In allowing development under local or private Acts or Order the 
Government accepts that such development is acceptable subject to a limited 
number of criteria being considered. 
 

5.2. Whilst, there is not a requirement to determine the application in accordance with 
the development plan, and the relevant policies cannot be considered decisive, by 
themselves, it does provide a useful resource and information on which to make an 
assessment. 

 
5.3. The relevant policy documents are; 

 
- The Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-33 
- National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 
- Planning Practice Guidance 

70



 

 

 

6. CONSULTEES 
 

Historic England 
 

The works will have a significant impact on the experience of the seafront within the 
conservation area and its relationship to the railway. The council will need to ensure that 
the scheme is robustly justified, including consideration of alternative means to deliver the 
scheme. 
 
The works will alter the visitor’s experience of the historic seaside resort in view of the 
seafront and the historic connection of the town to the beach. It will also impact on the 
station building, through the loss of part of its platform but also a significant change to the 
setting of the station.  

 
Sub-frontage A: The Impact of the Proposed Works to Dawlish Water Basin 
The creation of a larger formal public space at this point presents an opportunity to extend 
the public open space created by Dawlish Lawns through to the seafront. It is unfortunate 
that the designs of the new footbridge and the barrier along the sea front have a greater 
solidity than the existing viaduct and therefore diminish the open nature of the breach and 
the views through to the sea. We appreciate that the nature of the works demands a 
solidity to its design, but we would encourage consideration to be given through the design 
approach of providing a greater link to the sea. 

 
Sub-frontage B: The impact of the proposed works to the South west of station;  
This section of the proposal impacts on the significance of the station through a loss of 
fabric in the form of the columns and their distinctive visual contribution. The council need 
to ensure that clear and convincing justification has been provided for the resulting harm 
caused by their loss. Opportunities should explored to accommodate the columns in a 
more meaningful way related to the significance of the listed building.  
 
Sub-frontage C: The Impact of the Proposed Works to the Station Station Complex 
The proposed conservation works to the downside waiting room forms a clear heritage 
gain. Currently part of the sea-defence, the building is in a poor condition having suffered 
extensive damage from the battering of waves and extreme weather as well as a lack of 
maintenance. The proposed addition of the sea-defence presents an opportunity to bring 
this building back in to beneficial re-use….we would highlight the need for the council to 
give careful consideration to how the conservation focused stages of the proposed works 
will be secured through the planning process.  

 
The main intervention is the proposed new contemporary footbridge intended to provide 
access for all. Located north of the station complex, consideration has been given to 
separating it from the main station complex and limiting its impact on views from the town, 
However, the two uprights squared lift towers form a significant and dominant structures 
within views of the station. This is further exacerbated by the choice of Patterned Glass 
Reinforced Concrete (GRC), the hard finish of which will add to the visual dominance of 
the proposed footbridge.  

 
We appreciate that any structure in this location will need to be able to withstand the harsh 
maritime conditions. We would advise that further consideration is given to the design of 
the structure. This should aim to address the shape and hard finish of the proposed 
towers, whose upper sections would benefit from greater refinement in their design. This 

71



 

 

could be through the choice of materials, colour and the creation of a greater texture or 
motif to break up the stark quality of the current design. 
 
The Setting of the Station  
The proposed new seawall/ promenade will run in front of the downside waiting room. This 
will result in the building being removed from its functional role as a part of the sea 
defence and will be a considerable loss of the building’s significance. The proposals will 
also diminish the visual appreciation of the station from the beach and wider viewpoints as 
well as obscuring a number of interesting architectural features along its elevation. 
 
It is not clear how ventilation will now be achieved to the external wall of the historic 
building, allowing it to breath and facilitating the drying out process, which is an identified 
benefit of the current proposals. 
 
Sub-frontage D: The Impact of the Proposed Works to the North East of Station 
This element of the proposal comprises the removal of the overhanging platform, which 
formed part of the 1875 phase of works and was then extended in the 1930s. This will 
result in the loss of the station platform and resulting impact on significance. 
Consequently, due to the loss of an element of the listed building sufficient robust 
information must be provided in order to assess the impact and determine whether there is 
sufficient justification for its loss. 
 
Sub-frontage E&F: The Impact of the Proposed Works to Boat House Building and 
Coastguards Interface  
The boathouse and the footbridge are identified as non-designated heritage assets and 
are located within the conservation area. The proposals comprise the demolition of the 
boathouse and would obscure the lower section of the bridge. As they are not listed we do 
not propose to comment in detail although we note that these early structures are 
connected to the railway and Coastguards, and are interesting structures in their own right, 
both contributing to the significance of the listed station (as derived from its setting) and 
the conservation area. 
 
Seawall  
The historic sea wall will be obscured by the current proposed scheme. Although not 
listed, it is a key element of the conservation area and its obscuration contributes to the 
impact of this scheme on the character and appearance and significance of the designated 
area.  
 
The proposed reinstatement will link into the design previously consented along Marine 
Parade. This utilises concrete panels to construct the sea wall. In our view, careful 
consideration needs to be given to the treatment of the new construction around the key 
historic areas, including the station but also the basin area due to the direct visual link 
back into the conservation area. The choice and use of materials should seek to reflect a 
more traditional palette in terms of surface treatments and the finishes visible from within 
the space.  

 

Policy 
The NPPF clearly sets out that in cases where development will have an impact on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (Para 194, NPPF).  
 
Where schemes do result in a conflict between the proposed development and the 
heritage assets, the NPPF advocates that opportunities are sought to avoid or minimise 

72



 

 

the identified impact (NPPF, Para 190). It also positively encourages for opportunities for 
new development within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive 
contribution to or better reveal the significance of the asset should be treated favourably 
(NPPF, Para. 200).  
 
Where the impact cannot be avoided then the resulting harm needs to be clear and 
convincingly justified (NPPF, Para 194). This needs to also consider alternative options 
(NPPF, Para 190), to robustly ensure that the scheme can be demonstrated to be the least 
harmful while achieving similar public benefits. The onus is the local planning authority to 
rigorously test the necessity of any harmful works.  

 

Historic England’s Position  
The proposed scheme constitutes a comprehensive change to the Dalwish Conservation 
Area and the grade II listed station. 
 
The proposed scheme will have a range of impact on the conservation area and listed 
building including its setting. One of the most wide-reaching impacts is the impact of the 
new seawall on the character and appearance of the conservation area in terms of the 
appreciation of its seafront and its connection through to the town. It will also result in the 
loss of significance to the listed station, being no longer an integral part of the sea defence 
and having lost sections of its platform including the columns. The proposed new 
pedestrian footbridge will create a conspicuous addition to the station. Some conservation 
gain is provided through the repair and re-use of the downside waiting room, which will 
need to be secured through the planning process.  
 
In our view there are a number of opportunities within the scheme where the harmful 
impact could be minimised through revisions to the design (NPPF, Para 190). This would 
allow for those elements of the affected asset that contribute to its significance to be better 
expressed through the resulting design (NPPF, Para 200).  
 
Although the application is part of a wider scheme, the council will need to ensure that the 
proposed works are rigorously justified (NPPF, Para 194). Consideration should be given 
to alternative approaches that will minimise the potential impact of the scheme on a range 
of environmental factors including the historic environment (NPPF, Para 190). The historic 
environment is a key consideration in the assessment of the alternative options, ensuring 
that great weight is given to the conservation of the heritage assets (Para 193, NPPF).  

 

Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the applications on heritage grounds.The 
scheme will result in harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
the significance of the listed station.  

 
The council in discussion with their own conservation specialists and the applicants, 
should seek to identify opportunities to address the concerns expressed above. This 
should include any amendments to minimise the identified impact, further clarification on 
specific elements or consideration as to how the benefits could be secured through the 
planning process. 
 
Where loss of significance is identified, the council will need to ensure that robust 
justification has been provided, to allow them to rigorously assess the potential impact. 
They should be confident that the need for the works have been clearly demonstrated 

73



 

 

through the consideration of alternative options thus minimising the impact of the works on 
the historic environment.  

 
Teignbridge District Council Conservation Officer- Key issues raised are; 
 
The impact … is overwhelming in its scale and effects: all the vernacular character of the 
current sea wall, the lower-level promenade, the lower storeys of the seaward side of the 
downside station; the decorative elements to the coastguard footbridge, and the boat 
house will be lost. Either buried beneath the new sea wall, or demolished; for the listed 
structures the harm is substantial. The affect on the setting from the sea, and from the 
land, will be that views from the seaward side will be entirely different from that which they 
have been since the mid-19th century. The views from the landward side, both within and 
without the conservation area, will have a very different aspect towards the sea – from the 
upside platform passengers either seated, or alighting will have their views of the sea 
curtailed. The current permeability of the wooden railings on the seaward side of the down 
platform is considerable, allowing wide almost uninterrupted views to the sea and the 
adjacent coast and headlands.  

 
The totality of the impact and change cannot be underestimated;… If the principle is 
acceded to that the change must take place, and the proposals implemented, to ensure 
the future of the line the only question is what redeeming mitigation can be achieved in 
parallel. …the simple test set out by the NPPF: 
Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary 
to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss (para 195). 

 
Summary of Impact  

 
The Sea Wall & New Promenade – Sub-Areas A-F 

The result of the proposals will be that the old sea wall, and all its ancillary structures will 
be lost by being subsumed into the new structure. The new wall, brutalist in tone, 
monumental in aspect, with its outward recurve will resemble more an international border 
wall than the familiar frontier between sea and land that is the historic structure. The 
vernacular character of the present wall because of its use of local stone, its relationship 
with, and the physical geography of, the locale will be lost entirely; and the remarkable 
permeability that exists today between town and station, and station and sea will be a thing 
of the past. 

 
The Stilling Water Basin adjacent the Colonnade Breakwater – Sub-Area A 

The result of the proposals will transform the low unassuming character of the basin, 
almost part of the beach, into a visually obtrusive and far more integrated part of the mass 
sea defences, connected to the wall structures north and south, spanned by the new 
concrete viaduct bridge, and with ramps up to the downside platform and down to the 
beach.  

 
Colonnade Viaduct – Sub-area A 

It is not clear why the parapet walls need to be solid concrete here too, as they are no 
direct part of the sea defences and the new viaduct has three voids below. 

 

74



 

 

The Downside Station – Sub-Area C 

The new sea wall will bury the whole of the seaward ‘Arsenale’ side and the three returns 
(one at the south end includes a fine doorway and former access to the beach) which 
shape the station under-storey from being simply a part of the seawall’s face, into a 
historical building in 3-dimensional form at this level. All under platform pier-posts, the re-
used gas standards will be lost as part of the structure, though removed and re-used in 
‘wayfinding’(?). 
 
The result of all the proposed works to the downside station is either total loss, or 
substantial harm to the existing structure and its setting. However, the sea wall, for all its 
aesthetic ungainliness is a 21st Century structure, it is appropriate that the new footbridge 
and lifts are too. It is very fortunately designed that there is sufficient room between them – 
even when tied together by the new secondary wall – allowing them both to breathe. It is a 
great pity that the attractive polygonal shape of the footbridge platform is not 
complemented by a slight batter to the outer sides of the lift towers, in an echo of the 
angled glacis of the station understorey, and sea wall.  
 
The residual element of the downside station will be a single storey structure, tied to the 
secondary dividing wall, shorn of its lower storey; with the loss of the Arsenale setting from 
the sea it will be much shrunken. The proposed re-render will then remove all allusion to 
its former design and form. The station setting will be transformed, and whatever the 
greater benefits to the railway per se, not for the better: there will be a complete alteration 
of views to and from the station from town and beach. Though the railings are designed to 
allow some permeability to the structure, in truth they are an aesthetic gloss, though not 
unattractive, that will do very little to offset what is probably a unique and dramatic sea 
view from both sides of the station. This is further curtailed from the south part by the new 
bridge and lift towers. The loss and substantial harm are manifold and obvious, however 
necessary the sea wall and all its ancillary components are. 

 
The Coastguard Footbridge and Life Boat House – Sub Area E 

The impact on the footbridge abutment is similarly to that of the sea wall on the lower 
storey of the downside station: lost behind the 6-7m width of infill between the new wall 
and the old; its handsome plinth and decorative paired lancet windows buried, and much 
diminished as a structure….The proposal for the boatshed is simply demolition, even with 
the slight lowering of the height of the new sea wall here, the raising and infilling would 
come to present eaves level (see elevations as above for the footbridge).  
 
PROPOSED MITIGATION 

 
General Mitigation  

I. Podiums and viewing areas in the new basin;  

II. Heritage Interpretation boards;  

III. Discrete new seating, variously concrete, limestone (re-used), or granite; and  

IV. Marine wildlife traps, and habitat niches in the basin area.  
 

75



 

 

Specific Mitigation  

I. The re-use of material from the Lifeboat House  

II. Reuse of the Pier Posts/gas lamp standards  

III. Building Recording  

IV. The New Footbridge (A major addition to the original scheme)  

V. The conservation of the Downside Waiting Room  
 

The Re-use of Material from the Lifeboat House: 
‘To reuse some of the material within the locality as part of the new landscape.  This is the 
one area of mitigation which is actually under emphasised…seating type 2 will be 
reclaimed limestone and will be used to delineate the footprint of the boathouse building as 
well as some of the proposed seats in front of the station building.  

 
The Re-use of the Gas Lamp Standards: 
‘To be retained on site and to be used as part of the Wayfinding Programme’. There is no 
further definition of that programme in any of the application submissions. 

 
Building Recording:  

The Sarah Dyer Photo Recording (SDPR) reports have already been completed; they 
cannot be seen as mitigation, only a part of the application. In any case the NPPF makes 
such recording a requirement: ‘the ability to record evidence of our past should not be a 
factor in deciding whether such loss should be permitted’ (para 199). 

 
The New Footbridge with Step-free Access: 

A major addition to the sea wall programme, it nonetheless brings with it its own impact, to 
the station and its setting. 
 
The Conservation of the Downside Waiting Room: 

…the mitigation for the station, with exception of the details set out in the application, such 
as platform paving (Details sheet 1, drawing 000041), and the raising of the station doors 
(Interface Details sheet 01, drawing 000040), remains aspirational and in the HS it is 
fundamentally couched in the conditional language of recommendations. 

 
FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS OF IMPACT AND MITIGATION 

 
physical fabric survives of Brunel’s 1846 atmospheric pumping house in the car park.  The 
car park site, while not the focus for any development itself, is earmarked to be the 
construction compound.  The volume of stored material, deliveries and road movements 
will be of a much greater scale, and the potential for impact upon the fragile relict 
structures is very high. A full survey of the Brunel survivals, and a method statement for 
their protection during the construction programme, incorporated into a Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP) is essential – as is their subsequent conservation 
and interpretation.  
 
Proposed Sections I & J (drawings 000105-106) show the proximity of the piles to the 
downside station…consideration should be given to the potential impact on the station, 
and those different elements at the different chronological interfaces, where the structural 
integrity will vary: the two sea walls of 1846 and 1875, the aesthetically poor and later 
concrete and metal frame roof etc…While this will doubtless be addressed in a future 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) it should also be considered as part of the formal 
building condition survey with specific request for the impact of piling. 

76



 

 

 
CONDITIONS Recommended to be Attached to 20/00933 NPA  

 
CONDITIONAL MITIGATION  
Similarly, outside the area of the listed building application Historic England’s concerns 
remain re. the choice and use of materials; and again, the same three solutions, from 
maximalist to minimalist, apply:  

1. The panels to the sea wall, from the boundary with the listed building area, up to the 
Coastguard Breakwater should be limestone, not concrete. Where the lower area of 
the Coastguard’s bridge abutment and stair is lost to the raised sea wall the panels 
should be fabricated in relief that the ‘ghost’ of the lost lower area, with its quoined 
buttress, paired-and-keystoned lancet windows, its handrail coping, and plinth 
echoes the buried structure within.  

2. The panels representing the lost lower abutment and stair, with its quoined buttress, 
paired-and-keystoned lancet windows, its handrail coping, and plinth only should be 
in limestone; the sea wall, as elsewhere continues in concrete.  

3. The panels should remain in concrete but be fabricated in high contrast relief: 
colour, texture etc., such that the ‘ghost’ of the lost lower bridge abutment and stair, 
with its quoined buttress, paired-and-keystoned lancet windows, its handrail coping, 
and plinth, echoes the buried structure.  

 
In all cases, whatever solution is adopted, the extra relief will add interest, and highlight 
history, to an otherwise monumental and unrelieved sea wall, whose obscuration of the 
town, impact on the conservation area, and transformation of the setting will all tend to the 
monotonous. 

 
Environment Agency 
We have no objection to the proposed development in terms of siting and appearance.  
However, before the works around the Dawlish Water culvert and stilling basin can 
commence a Flood Risk Activity Permit (FRAP) will be required.  An informative setting out 
the need for a FRAP along with advice about the information required to support an 
application for a FRAP and ecological enhancements are set out below; 

 
Advice – Ecological Enhancement 
a) We are supportive of the basin concept as an ecological enhancement but we 

would use this opportunity to reiterate that we consider the proposal (and certainly 
the South West Rail Resilience Programme as a whole) should deliver a 
Biodiversity Net Gain for inter-tidal habitat.   

b) To ensure that the proposal for the stilling basin maximises opportunities to achieve 
ecological enhancement we would suggest incorporating the following 
improvements to the basin design where possible: 

c) Addition of some artificial rock pools or ‘verti-pools’ to walls (where there is reduced 
wave energy); 

d) Some rock pools should be shaded and more inaccessible to predators (such as 
gulls); 

e) All wetted surfaces to have a rough surface (large surface area) to encourage 
colonisation by algae and small organisms; 

f) Inclusion of some cavities/voids to provide niche refuge for crevice dwelling 
organisms; 

g) Addition of some sinuosity/meandering as well as width and depth variation to the 
central low tide channel to look more natural and improve habitat;  

h) Make the steps curved or less uniform (for same reasons stated above).  
 

77



 

 

Natural England 
 

Your authority will be required to carry out a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and 
this will need to be based upon a sufficient level of certainty and detail regarding potential 
impacts. Potential mitigation measures will need to be sufficiently detailed and 
underpinned by robust delivery mechanisms that reflect the duration of impacts. Based on 
the information provided, Natural England advises that further information is required to 
better inform an assessment of impact.  

 
As submitted, the application could have potential significant effects on the dune system 
associated with the Dawlish Warren Special Area of Conservation (SAC), and bird 
assemblage associated with Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA)/ Exe Estuary 
Ramsar, and Dawlish Warren Cliffs (SSSI). Your Authority will need to undertake a 
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) before determining this application. Natural 
England requires further information in order to determine the significance of these 
impacts and the scope for mitigation. 

 
The following detailed information will need to be secured:- 

 
In accordance with BS42020, a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) will be required to 
underpin the agreed mitigation measures.  

 
Where impacts are permanent, mitigation measures and management of those measures 
will need to be in place for the duration of the impacts.  
 
Aggregations of Honeycomb Worm Sabellaria alveolata have been identified as being 
present in the lower intertidal zone of the shore. Where possible loss or degradation of this 
habitat should be avoided and where not possible, mitigated.  
 
We support the proposal to include a ‘Marine Transit Routing Plan’ within a submitted 
CEMP which will have the potential to reduce impact by activities of the jack up barge 
upon these aggregations. We support the proposed inclusion of biodiversity 
enhancements within the Dawlish still basin. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain  
In the Chancellor’s 2019 Spring Statement and in the forthcoming Environment Bill, the 
government announced that it “will Mandate net gains for biodiversity on new 
developments in England to deliver an overall increase in biodiversity”.  
 
Accordingly and to future proof the proposed development, we advise that the proposals 
are reviewed in light of this commitment towards the delivery of biodiversity net gain. It 
would be useful to demonstrate the delivery of biodiversity net gain, with the use of a 
recognised biodiversity metric mechanism. The Defra metric was updated in December 
2019 to include intertidal habitats.  
 
We note that the proposals involve the direct loss of marine habitats (extension of 
promenade c.3m Seaward, loss of approximately 1000m2 of foreshore). We advise 
delivery of offsite biodiversity net gain (as close to development site as possible) where 
there are limited opportunities to deliver onsite biodiversity net gain. 

 

78



 

 

DCC Flood Risk (Lead Local Flood Authority)  
As this application falls within a coastal area, this would be outside of our remit. Therefore, 
we will not be commenting on this application. 

 
TDC Drainage and Coastal Manager 
Requests details to support general principles of the promenade and track drainage.  
Subject to receipt of satisfactory information advises that drainage details could be dealt 
with by condition.  

 
TDC Biodiversity Officer 
I note the findings of the Ecological Impact Assessment and Habitat Regulations 
Screening for Likely Significant Effect (none likely).  I have no objection to the proposals. 

 
Police Designing Out Crime Officer 
I have forwarded the consultation on to the Designing Out Crime Officer for the British 
Transport Police who covers the Teignbridge area.  His remit includes developments 
relating to Network Rail property i.e. railways, footbridges, stations etc. so he is best 
placed to comment on the application.  The team have considered our observations and 
recommendations so there are no further comments at this stage.  

 
 

7. REPRESENTATIONS 
Thirteen letters of support including three from MPs, two objections have been received, 2 
comments and a representation from The Dawlish Local History Group 

 
 

The letters of support raise the following points; 
 

I. Over a million people live to the west of Dawlish and they rely on this rail route to 
get to work, see their family and friends and receive goods via freight. 

II. Tourism plays a bit part in the economy of Devon and Cornwall valued at over 
£2.5bn per year.   

III. Welcomes the use of local labour 
IV. It will be easier to get off the train and come out of the station 
V. With climate change doing nothing is not an option 

VI. Proposal will bring Dawlish into the 21st century with a modern outlook 
VII. Concerned about the effect of clearing vegetation below Coastguards cottages 

VIII. Potential destabilisation as a result of piling. 
IX. The footpath access to Coastguard cottages should be open at all times 
X. The design is thoughtful 

XI. Much better facilities will be provided for the elderly or disabled.  
 

The Letters of Objection Raise the Following Points; 
 

I. The size and scale of the footbridge is too large. The height will dominate the listed 
station buildings.  The angled towers is very out of place. 

II. The new bridge is unnecessary 
III. There are no guarantees that the current station footbridge won’t be closed to 

passengers in the future. 
IV. What is proposed to be done to listed buildings and materials would be vandalism 
V. Coastguard building could be rebuilt in Boat Cove 

VI. Covering over much of the old Brunel stone 
 

79



 

 

The Comments that have been made Include; 
 

I. Reinstatement of the footpath from Exeter Road to the footbridge should be 
included in the schedule of works.   

II. It is essential to have access to escape from the beach halfway between the station 
and Coastguards 

 
The Dawlish Local History Group make the Following Comments; 

 
I. Concerned about the great loss of railway heritage. 

II. Disagree with NR’s heritage statement and consider that the Boat House and 
footbridge are part of Brunel’s heritage.  As much of this heritage should be retained 
and refurbished as possible. 

III. Any dressed stone from the Boat House that is not re-used should be offered to the 
town. 

IV. There is no mention of the filled in archway along the sea wall. It may have been 
connected to the atmospheric pumping station. 

V. It is important that any restrictions of the view towards Colonnades Bridge are kept 
to a minimum. 

VI. Request that any gas lantern posts that are not re-used be offered to the town.   
VII. These proposals will mean the dramatic loss of railway heritage from both the 

Brunel era and the last days of the South Devon Railway.   
VIII. The back wall of the atmospheric pumping station in the car park should be cleared 

of ivy and acknowledged with one of the interpretation boards. 
 

8. TOWN / PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS 
 

Dawlish Town Council 
6. OBJECTS to the applications with the following comments:  
7. The protection of the railway is welcomed and acknowledged as a critical element of 

Dawlish. However, there are still questions regarding specifics of the design in terms of 
accessibility, safety, retention of heritage features in a conservation area and ensuring 
new elements are sympathetic to the existing structures and character of Dawlish as a 
town.  

8. Access to the beach for those with mobility issues is important and there is concern 
regarding a lack of ramp down to the beach and escape steps from the beach to the sea 
wall.  

9. The inclusion of the lift and bridge are welcomed. However, the lift design could be less 
brutal. Members suggested cladding in local stone and a low apex roof would be more in 
keeping with the original design of the station.  

10. Members would like to see as many historic features retained as possible, noting the 
comments of the Local History Group speaker and the heritage statement.  

11. Members agree with the concerns regarding the design of the stilling basin referenced in 
the Teignbridge submission.  

12. Members feel that a breakwater should still be considered as part of a long-term solution. 
 

 
9. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 

 
The CIL liability for this development is Nil as the CIL rate for this type of development is 
Nil and therefore no CIL is payable.  

80



 

 

 
10. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on 
the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development. 

 
11.       HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  

The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights Act, and 
in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In 
arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable 
development rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the 
wider community interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development 
Plan and Central Government Guidance. 

 
12. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITIES  

 
This prior approval application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
with regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the case office has concluded that the 
application does not cause discrimination on the grounds of gender, race and disability. 
 
 
Business Manager – Strategic Place 
 

81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 
Tuesday 18 August 2020 

 
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Mike Haines 

 

 

APPLICATION FOR 
CONSIDERATION: 
 

DAWLISH - 20/00922/LBC -  Dawlish Railway Station , 
Station Road - Works to include reconstruction of existing 
timber downside station platform, new accessible 
passenger footbridge, alterations to existing platforms 
surface resulting in minor changes to door openings of 
downside station building, refurbishment of passenger 
waiting room and refurbishment and repairs to the fabric 
of the station building on seaward elevation all in 
association with Dawlish Sea Wall Stage 2 project 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Colin Field 

CASE OFFICER 
 

Helen Addison 

WARD MEMBERS: Cllr Linda Goodman-Bradbury  
Cllr Linda Petherick  
Cllr Martin Wrigley  
 

Dawlish North East 

 

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-
application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00922/LBC&MN  

 
 
 
 
 
 

83

Agenda Item 8

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00922/LBC&MN
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00922/LBC&MN
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-details/?Type=Application&Refval=20/00922/LBC&MN


Shelters

Post

6
19

7

Brunel

STA
TIO

N ROAD

Cliff 
Cour

t

PC

Breakwater

Shingle

York Gardens

Gara
ge

7

Sand and Shingle

Dawlish

5

1 to 6

Sand and

Sand and Shingle

3a

1

Mariners

1 to
 16

PH

9

El
Sub Sta

Rem
o T

err

5b

5a

Coastguard

San Rem
o

3

Groyne

Cottages

1

Breakwater

FB

13a

1 to 9

House

1 to 9

19

Garage

1 to 50

6

7

8

FAY ROAD

Pe-ett

Lanherne

EXETER ROAD

4

The Clint

15

25

Prospect

10

Inn

IDDESLEIGH TERRACE

2

9

COMMERCIAL ROAD

5a

20

16.8m

1 to 28
19

a

3a
3

26

Sub Sta
El

2

Mean
 High

 W
ate

r

1

Bureau

17 to 21

1

9

Weir

4.9m

PC

1 to 15

FB

Sand
 an

d S
hin

gle

5

5.5m

Information

1

4.6m

2

20

House

3

Groyne

Groyne

SM

MAR
INE PA

RAD
E

Coastguard

Mast (Telecommunication)

Mew
s

4

6

9

4

34 
to 

38

Char
lton

 Hous
e

18
 to

 33

EX
ET

ER
 RO

AD

1

LB

Mean
 Lo

w Wate
r

Scandia

Clint Cottage

Littlehayes

Shelter

Outlook Court

Pipers

31.4m

30.2m

1 to 2

STRAND HILL

5

The Cloisters

Inshes

2 1

EAST CLIFF ROAD

39.6m

Highcliff Court

17

MAYFLOW
ER CLOSE

20

West-Way

23

2b

2

Sherwell

Car Park

19

Sand

Bay View

Shelter

LB

Flo

BEACH STREET

2Exeter  Inn

1 to
Weir

1 to 8 RICHMOND PLACE

Sand

8 to 13

Kin
g's

 W
alk

Court

31a

PH

Court

6

7

Bank

1

Weir

Fountain

5.5m

SL

TEIGNMOUTH HILL
4

Po
sts

and

Slipway

House

4
Cotta

ges Hall

1

San

27

Terra
ce

A 379

2

GROVE COURT
21.9m

5

PW

Kelso

Riva

1 to 15

39.6m

PH

(PH)

1 to 15

Fayfield

Goodwood

Merrihill

11

1

23

7a

1a

10a

16

19

18

4a

7

1

1

Posts

4.3m

SM

Slipway

Cottage 1

PLACE

Post

PIERMONT
31

Statio
n

Groyne

3

15a

Posts

4

1

BROOKDALE TERRACE

TCBs

1 to 6

Richmond Court

1 to 32

Po
sts

15b

White Court

Gara
ge

4

Richmond

MP 2
06

.25

Mean
 Lo

w Wate
r

Shingle

Mean
 High

 Wate
r

MP 20
6.0

1

MLW

1 to 11

17.7m

1 to

23.5m

Sand and Shingle

Watc
h H

ou
se

1 to
 30

Bursledon Court

1 to
 17

2

Lodge

15
a

Oak

11

Farriford

1

2

ST
RA

ND
 H

ILL
1

15.8m
South Devon

27

22

2a

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

Bay Tree House

5

1

9.8m

Overcliff Court

THE DRIVE

24.4m

3

12

26a

Cottage

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. 
You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. 

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

20/00922/LBC - Dawlish Railway Station, 
Station Road,

Dawlish,
EX7 9PJ

´1:2,500Scale:

84



 

 

 
1. REASON FOR REPORT 
 
The linked Prior Approval application (20/00933/NPA) has regional significance and is 
appropriate to be determined by planning committee.  This application should be 
determined at the same time as it sits alongside the prior approval application and it is 
therefore included on the agenda for the planning committee.    
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
Subject to receipt of satisfactory information (to be determined by the Business Manager – 
Strategic Place in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of Planning Committee) 
relating to: 

1. The external appearance of the accessible footbridge, 
2. The method of joining the new sea wall to the station building and 
3. Confirmation of the extent of restoration works to the downside platform building; 

 
LISTED BUILDING CONSENT BE GRANTED subject to but not limited to conditions 
addressing the following matters, the precise wording of the conditions to be determined 
under delegated authority by the Business Manager – Strategic Place: 
 

1) 3 year time period for implementation 
2) Plans list 
3) Details of materials to be used for platform resurfacing 
4) Details of new lighting, CCTV and public information installations 
5) Details of type of render and colour to the seaward elevation of the station building 

be agreed 
6) Submission of a Building Surveyors Report on the downside station building to 

include an assessment of the stability of the building when piling adjacent, which 
should inform a method statement for full repair predicated on Conservation Works 
Phased Study to the Downside Building set out in the HS (pp.95-103) to include a 
full specification and drawings of works to be carried out . A timescale for the 
implementation of the works to be agreed.    

7) Details of new roof canopy 
8) Details of imprint of station building in sea wall 
9) Details of how gas lamp standards would be re-used 

 
 

85



 

 

 
 3.     DESCRIPTION 
 

Site description 
 

3.1  Dawlish Railway station is a Grade II Listed Building.  It is situated on the east side 
of Station road and abuts the promenade adjacent to the beach.   The promenade 
forms part of the South West coastal path.    There is an associated car park to the 
north.   Beyond the car park are large sandstone cliffs.   

 
3.2 The station building was completed in 1875 and replaced a former wooden building 

that burnt down.  It is of an Italianate styled design and consists of upside and 
downside buildings with attached platforms, linked by a footbridge.   The upside 
building is the entrance to the station and has a grand façade facing the town.  
There are a number of interesting features which include attractive decorative 
supports on the town side entrance canopy, the grand appearance of the booking 
office with a lofty and decorated ceiling, the fortified appearance of the lower ground 
floor facing the sea, the northern part of the downside platform which is cantilevered 
over the adjoining promenade and the southern part of the platform which is 
supported on reused gas standard columns that were installed in the 1940s.    

 
3.3 The rooms in the downside building are currently unused and are in a poor state of 

repair.  A number of the windows facing the beach are protected from the elements 
by Perspex sheets.  Due to its siting there are extensive sea views from the 
platforms. The existing footbridge that links both platforms that was replaced in 
2013.   An escorted barrow crossing is used for travellers where the steps are 
inaccessible.  The platforms have a modern asphalt surface.  The canopy roofs 
were installed in 1961.   

 
3.4 The listing description was updated by Historic England in 2018, confirming its 

special interest.   
 
Detailed proposals 

 
3.5 This application is for listed building consent for works to the Grade II listed station 

as part of Network Rail’s coastal resilience proposal to protect the railway track and 
station from overtopping by the sea, and for construction of a new accessible bridge 
within the curtilage of the station.  This application sits alongside application 
reference 20/00933NPA which is for Prior Approval for development along the 
stretch of railway line between the Colonnades and Coastguards breakwaters.   

 
3.6 The application site is smaller than for the prior approval application as it relates 

only to physical works to the building and within its curtilage.   

86



 

 

 
3.7 The works that are the subject of this application are: 
 

 Reconstruction of Dawlish station seaward platform with a reduced stepping 
distance between the train and the platform with new tactile paving for visually 
impaired.  Increase in width of the platform and its rise in height.  This includes 
removal of the cantilevered platform north of the station and the gas light standards 
supporting the southern part of the platform.   

 Alterations to door openings on the downside station building as a result of 
resurfacing (albeit the doors to be reused). 

 Phased conservation works to include repairs to the fabric of the building and 
bringing the platform waiting room back into use.   

 Minor alteration to the landward side platform to include tactile paving and 
resurfacing. 

 Renewal of existing lighting and provision of lighting on the northern half of the 
seaward platform, cctv and public announcement columns.  

 Construction of promenade and sea wall adjacent to seaward elevation of the 
building including a secondary wall between the platform and the promenade. 

 A new, accessible station footbridge with lifts with new steps. 

 New ramp into the station carpark from the upside (town) platform and alteration to 
steps. 

 
Key issues/material considerations 
 
3.8 In terms of policy and principle, section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes a duty on Local Planning Authorities to give 
considerable weight and importance to the desirability of preserving listed buildings 
and any features of special architectural or historic interest and their settings. 

 
3.9 Paragraphs 193 to 195 in the NPPF translate this statutory position to national 

policy.   
 
3.10 Policy EN5 in the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-33 is relevant to the application.  

This requires consideration of development proposals to take account of the 
significance, character, setting and local distinctiveness of any affected heritage 
asset.  New development should respond positively to the character and 
distinctiveness of the area and where appropriate include proposals for 
enhancement of the historic environment.   

 
3.11 The key issue is the impact of the proposed alterations set out above on the historic 

character of the building and its setting.   Each matter will be addressed in turn; 
 

a) Reconstruction of Dawlish station seaward platform  
 
3.12 The loss of the cantilevered northern end of the platform would change the 

character of the station when viewed from the promenade and the beach.  This is a 
distinctive feature which although extended in the 1930s, contributes to the historic 
character of the station.  It is evidentially much repaired and very little of the original 
fabric survives.  The exposure of this part of the platform to damage from storm 
events provides considerable justification for its replacement.  The burden of 
continued maintenance and having a sometimes unusable platform impacts on the 
operational reliability of the railway and station.   

87



 

 

 
3.13 The loss of the former gas standard columns from the southern end of the platform 

would similarly have a harmful effect on the historic character of the station.  Whilst 
the cantilevered platform referred to above is not included within the listed area of 
the station, this part of the platform is, which adds weight to its importance in 
heritage terms.  

 
3.14 Historic England advise that in their view the proposed re-use of the columns 

should reflect the former structural role as a group.  Ideally they suggest that they 
could be incorporated into the section of the wall maybe as breaks within the 
panels.  Alternatively they suggest consideration should be given to them forming a 
piece of art as part of the heritage trail.   

 
3.15 The suggestion of incorporating the columns into the sea wall would not be practical 

as this would undermine the structural integrity of the wall and therefore its 
performance in defending the railway from wave overtopping in storm events.  In 
addition it would increase exposure of the columns to the elements which would 
inevitably lead to their deterioration.   

 
3.16 There are twelve columns which would take up considerable space if they were 

formed into an art installation particularly considering the space needed around any 
installation to appreciate it.  There is not a large enough area within the 
development for such an installation.  Therefore it is concluded that it would not be 
practicable to implement HE’s suggestions. In this case it is considered that the 
most expedient solution would be to reuse them throughout the station and car park 
as proposed by NR.  T 

 
3.17 The loss of the gas standards would be mitigated to an extent by the proposal to re-

use them as part of the development.  In order to secure this it is appropriate to 
condition submission of a detailed schedule of re-use.  The Town Council and 
Dawlish Local History Society have requested any unused posts be given to the 
local community which NR has agreed to. 

 
3.18 The principle of raising platform 1 (downside) by up to 200mm would impact on the 

historic character of the station.  The change in platform level would necessitate 
removal of the first step of the staircase leading to the footbridge.    It would also 
mean that there would be some alteration to original fabric in the downside station 
building. This is considered in more detail below. 

 
3.19 The total loss of the existing platform would have a notable impact on the historic 

character of the station.   These alterations to the platform are intrinsically linked to 
the construction of the new sea wall and high level promenade which are discussed 
below.   

88



 

 

 
b) Alterations to door openings on the downside station building as a result 

of resurfacing 
 
3.20 The changes to the level of platform 1 (downside) would necessitate raising the 

level of four doors along the platform.  This would be achieved by replacing the 
existing header above the doors with a smaller header, which would allow the re-
hanging of the doors within the existing frame at a slightly higher level.  The lower 
part of the existing wooden door frames would be removed with a new door sill 
formed in red bricks to match existing internal exposed brickwork and rendered/ 
plastered. 

 
3.21 The retention of the existing doors which could well be original is welcomed.  

Subject to the quality of implementation this is considered a sensitive alteration to 
the building which would minimise impact on its historic character.   

 
c) Phased conservation works to include repairs to the fabric of the building 

and bringing the platform waiting room back into use.   
 
3.22 The downside building is in poor condition and has not been used for many years.  

Historically has been used as; 
 

 A general waiting room 

 A 1st class ladies waiting room and toilet  

 A 2nd class ladies waiting room and toilet 

 A gentleman’s toilet and urinal 
 

An existing floor plan is below; 
 

 

89



 

 

3.23 In Network Rail’s (NR) heritage statement three phases for the downside building’s 
conservation are proposed which are; 

 

 Phase One: Weathertight which involves immediate repairs to the exterior of the 
building including repairs to the walls, roof tiles, flashings, gutterings and structural 
timbers.   

 

 Phase Two: reinstatement of waiting room.  This includes replacing windows to 
include secondary glazing, remove partition between two central rooms to form one 
central waiting room.  Reinstatement of architectural features and new flooring. 

 

 Phase Three: complete conservation of the downside building which includes 
repairs and reuse of the two other rooms.   

 
3.24 Externally the render to the seaward elevation would be reinstated.   
 
3.25 In their response to the Council’s conservation officer NR have stated the intent of 

the application is that at least one waiting room will be brought back into use as part 
of this project and it is agreed that a full specification for the works to the waiting 
room, including a condition survey, drawings and scheduled would be required.  
This is at odds with the description of proposed works of reinstatement in appendix 
C of the Heritage Statement which details that all the rooms will be restored and 
includes this plan: 

 
 

 
 
3.26 It is important that NR confirm that the restoration works extend to all the rooms in 

the downside building as this is a clear heritage gain that should be secured 
through the grant of consent.  This point is supported by HE in their second 
consultation response.   

 
3.27 The improvements to the downside building would prevent further deterioration of 

the building and reinstate historic features.  It would also bring the building back into 
public use which would be a clear public benefit/heritage gain.   

 

90



 

 

3.28 The extent of the works should follow the details set out  in Appendix C of the 
Heritage Statement and will need to be informed by a Building Surveyors Report.  
Following completion of this a full specification, drawings, schedule of works, 
method statement and timescale for completion will be need to be submitted and 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  The Council’s conservation officer has 
agreed that this can be addressed by condition.  There is an urgency to the 
completion of these works to secure protection to the building.   

 
 

d) Minor alteration to the landward side platform to include tactile paving and 
resurfacing. 
 

3.29 Platform 2 (upside) would be lowered slightly, but to prevent impact to the main 
building the platform would have a gradient to it approximately 1:50.  As with 
platform 1 it would be resurfaced with new tactile indicators and copers (which is 
the paving at the edge of the platform) installed.   

 
3.30 This change would have a negligible impact on the historic character of the station 

as the platform is surfaced in a modern material and no changes would be needed 
to the station building.   

 
 

e) Renewal of existing lighting, provision of lighting on the northern half of 
the seaward platform,  CCTV and public announcement columns 

  
3.31 New lighting, cctv and public announcement columns are proposed on the seaward 

platform as a result of widening and changes to platform level.  There are currently 
modern lighting columns on the platforms.  It would be appropriate to condition that 
the appearance of these is agreed with the LPA.  It is considered that these are 
required for health and safety reasons and there would be a minimal impact on the 
historic character of the station.   

 
f) Construction of promenade and sea wall adjacent to seaward elevation of 

the building including a secondary wall between the platform and the 
promenade. 

 
3.32 Although not included in NR’s description of works that they have applied for listed 

building (LB) consent for, because the new sea wall and promenade would be 
attached to the listed station building that section of the wall and promenade which 
joins the building would also require the LB consent.   

 
3.33 The proposed sea wall and promenade would obscure the entire lower part of the 

downside station building.  The result of this would be that the shoreward façade of 
the building would be completely altered and all of its lower level features would be 
lost.  This includes the removal of features that contribute to its significance such as 
the 1940s gas standard platform supports, the recessed seating alcoves along the 
promenade and obscuring the blocked off staircase which originally provided an exit 
from the station.  The experience of walking adjacent to the upper level windows 
would completely change the way in which the building is appreciated and its 
defensive role from the sea and appearance would be greatly diminished.    

 

91



 

 

3.34 The positive aspect of the proposal would be that the building would be protected 
from future deterioration and the downside building rooms would be restored and 
brought back into use.  This would ensure the longevity of this heritage asset.   

 
3.35 Historic England has referred to how ventilation to the external wall of the station 

will be ensured if the proposed sea wall is constructed.  This is to ensure that the 
proposed works would enable the historic building to continue to breathe and to 
facilitate the drying out process.  They encourage the council to seek further 
consideration to the approach of the interfacing to confirm that the benefits through 
the drying out process can be delivered.  Further clarification on this point is sought 
from Network Rail and Members will be updated on this.   

 
3.36 Provision of the new sea wall and the secondary wall between the station platform 

and the promenade would restrict views of the sea from the station platform.  
Currently there is a timber rail fence along the seaward edge of the platform that 
affords extensive sea views.  The predominantly solid nature of the proposed walls 
(it is noted that there would be a railing on the upper part) would curtail a 
considerable extent of views along the coastline.  These panoramic views of the 
coast are an important part of the building’s setting as they have formed part of the 
historic experience of people arriving at the station to visit Dawlish.   

 
3.37 Views of the station from the beach would be considerably changed by the extent of 

the proposed new sea wall.   
 
3.38 The Council’s conservation officer has advised that it is inappropriate that the facing 

of the new sea wall below the station, the area equivalent to an ‘elevational-
footprint’ of the lower-storey building, should use the same concrete panels as 
elsewhere, with no attempt to acknowledge the loss. Historic England raised a 
similar concern.   

 
3.39 The conservation officer recommended three options of how this could be 

addressed.  NR have advised that this could be addressed by providing a 3D scan 
of the existing downside façade imprinted into the new sea wall.  Historic England 
have supported this proposal and commented that it allows for a contextual 
reference the station. A clearly modern interpretation, the design indicates the 
former role of the station as part of the defence.  It would be appropriate to impose 
a condition requiring agreement of how this detail will be achieved. 

 
 

g) A new, accessible station footbridge with lifts with new steps. 
 
3.40 A new footbridge and passenger lifts would be built to the north of the station 

building to provide step-free access for rail users. It would be set apart from the 
main building and would have an open structure (with no canopy) across the top 
served by angled lift shafts and staircases, both facing south. All structural steel in 
the bridge would be stainless steel with a bead blasted (matte) finish and the 
footbridge and steps would have glass balustrades. The exterior would be finished 
in high quality GRC concrete panels with a textured pattern finish. The steps on the 
downside platform would have a wave protection wall. 

92



 

 

 
3.41 The footbridge would have a modern appearance and would utilise modern 

materials which would be a distinct contrast to the historic character of the station.  
It is appropriate that this modern intervention is physically separated from the main 
building and is clearly distinguishable from the character of the station.  The 
Council’s Conservation Officer describes this as allowing both buildings to ‘breathe’.   

 
3.42 It should be noted that due to its size and height of the proposed footbridge it would 

obstruct views to the north of the station. 
 
3.43 Both Historic England (HE) and the Council’s conservation officer have suggested 

that further consideration could be given to the design.  The Council’s conservation 
officer suggests that the polygonal shape of the footbridge platform could be 
complemented by a slight batter to the outer sides of the lift towers, to echo the 
angled glacis of the station understorey.  HE note that the two uprights squared lift 
towers form a significant and dominant structure which they consider is further 
exacerbated by the choice of Patterned Glass Reinforced Concrete (GRC), the hard 
finish of which will add to the visual dominance of the footbridge.  They advise that 
further consideration should be given to the design of the structure which should 
aim to address the shape and hard finish of the proposed towers.  This could be 
through the choice of materials, colour and the creation of a greater texture or motif 
to break up the stark quality of the current design. 

 
3.44 NR have provided further explanation of the design of the lift bridge.  They advise 

that a mono pitch could be added to the roof of the lift shafts but this would increase 
their height.  Given the relatively tall height of the proposed bridge in its current form 
which is significantly taller than the single storey station building this would not be a 
worthwhile modification.    

 
3.45 The choice of materials proposed for the external finish of the bridge is defended by 

NR as being robust in response to the exposed location next to the sea.  There is 
considerable flexibility in the design and colour of the GRC finish which has the 
potential to improve the appearance of the bridge.  Further input to this opportunity 
is sought from HE and the Council’s conservation officer. 

 
3.46 In terms of the impact of the proposed footbridge on the historic character of the 

station, the bridge would clearly read as a modern intervention to the station 
building.  It is relevant to consider the use of the building as a station means that it 
has to be adaptable to current operational requirements, and this is the case here.  
The physical separation from the listed building and the clear distinction in design 
and external detailing means that it would not intervene into the historic character of 
the building or harm its setting.  It is therefore considered (subject to satisfactory 
resolution of the external detailing) to impact on the historic character and setting of 
the station, but to be an acceptable intervention.   

93



 

 

 
h) New ramp into the station carpark from the upside (town) platform and 

alteration to steps. 
 
3.47 The proposed new ramp would provide step free access from the station car park to 

the new accessible lift bridge.  The ramp would be located at the side of the new 
bridge.  The existing steps from the car park would be widened.  An illustration of 
these changes is shown below;  

 
 

 
 

These changes would necessitate relocation of the three disabled parking spaces. 
 
3.48 These revisions are considered to be relatively minor and would not impact the 

historic character of the station building.   
 
Conclusion  
 
3.49 In conclusion, the scale and extent of the proposed development would harm the 

historic and architectural character of this grade II listed building.  It is the Council’s 
Conservation Officer’s advice that the proposal would result in substantial harm to 
this designated heritage asset.    National Policy in the NPPF (paras. 193 to 195) 
does allow for this scale of harm on an exceptional basis, where it is justified and 
where it can be demonstated that this level of harm is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm.   

 
3.50 Consideration of the justification and why the public benefits outweigh the harm of 

the development is addressed in detail in the officer report for the Prior Approval 
application reference 20/00933/NPA.  It is not necessary to replicate these points 
and the assessment in this report.   

 
3.51 The Council’s Conservation Officer advises that “this is one of the rare cases where 

there is a clear binary choice, between consent being given for an application, 
which will result in a mix of total loss, and substantial harm to a designated asset, 
but which has a greater public benefit. In this case the survival and resilience of the 
railine in the face of climate crisis and sea-level rise”.  

 

94



 

 

3.52 Officers conclude that on balance subject to the resolution of two issues (i) the 
external appearnace of the accessible footbridge and (ii) the method of joining the 
new sea wall to the listed station building to the satisfaction of the Business 
Manager prior to determination, conditional Listed Building consent should be 
granted.  A list of conditions is set out at the beginning of this report.   

 
4. PLANNING HISTORY 
 

The relevant applications are; 
 

 19/02099LBC Refurbishment and modernisation of internal waiting area, LBC 
granted 17.01.20 

 17/02090LBC Installation of sixteen fixed focus CCTV cameras in dome enclosures, 
LBC granted 16.02.18 

 17/02025/LBC Addition of two radio microphone antennae, LBC granted 04.10.17 
 13/01290/DEM Demolition of signal box, may proceed 23.05.13 
 12/03594/LBC Retention of portal frame to the footbridge, granted 22.01.13 
 11/02347/LBC replace station footbridge span, dated 13.09.2011 

 
5. POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-33 
 
Policy EN5 Heritage Assets 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
 
6. CONSULTEES 
 
Historic England 08.07.20 

 
The works will have a significant impact on the experience of the seafront within the 
conservation area and its relationship to the railway. The council will need to ensure that 
the scheme is robustly justified, including consideration of alternative means to deliver the 
scheme. 
 
The works will alter the visitor’s experience of the historic seaside resort in view of the 
seafront and the historic connection of the town to the beach. It will also impact on the 
station building, through the loss of part of its platform but also a significant change to the 
setting of the station.  

 
Sub-frontage A: The Impact of the Proposed Works to Dawlish Water Basin 
The creation of a larger formal public space at this point presents an opportunity to extend 
the public open space created by Dawlish Lawns through to the seafront. It is unfortunate 
that the designs of the new footbridge and the barrier along the sea front have a greater 
solidity than the existing viaduct and therefore diminish the open nature of the breach and 
the views through to the sea. We appreciate that the nature of the works demands a 
solidity to its design, but we would encourage consideration to be given through the design 
approach of providing a greater link to the sea. 

 

95



 

 

Sub-frontage B: The impact of the proposed works to the South west of station;  
This section of the proposal impacts on the significance of the station through a loss of 
fabric in the form of the columns and their distinctive visual contribution. The council need 
to ensure that clear and convincing justification has been provided for the resulting harm 
caused by their loss. Opportunities should explored to accommodate the columns in a 
more meaningful way related to the significance of the listed building.  
 
Sub-frontage C: The Impact of the Proposed Works to the Station Station Complex 
The proposed conservation works to the downside waiting room forms a clear heritage 
gain. Currently part of the sea-defence, the building is in a poor condition having suffered 
extensive damage from the battering of waves and extreme weather as well as a lack of 
maintenance. The proposed addition of the sea-defence presents an opportunity to bring 
this building back in to beneficial re-use….we would highlight the need for the council to 
give careful consideration to how the conservation focused stages of the proposed works 
will be secured through the planning process.  

 
The main intervention is the proposed new contemporary footbridge intended to provide 
access for all. Located north of the station complex, consideration has been given to 
separating it from the main station complex and limiting its impact on views from the town, 
However, the two uprights squared lift towers form a significant and dominant structures 
within views of the station. This is further exacerbated by the choice of Patterned Glass 
Reinforced Concrete (GRC), the hard finish of which will add to the visual dominance of 
the proposed footbridge.  

 
We appreciate that any structure in this location will need to be able to withstand the harsh 
maritime conditions. We would advise that further consideration is given to the design of 
the structure. This should aim to address the shape and hard finish of the proposed 
towers, whose upper sections would benefit from greater refinement in their design. This 
could be through the choice of materials, colour and the creation of a greater texture or 
motif to break up the stark quality of the current design. 
 
The Setting of the Station  
The proposed new seawall/ promenade will run in front of the downside waiting room. This 
will result in the building being removed from its functional role as a part of the sea 
defence and will be a considerable loss of the building’s significance. The proposals will 
also diminish the visual appreciation of the station from the beach and wider viewpoints as 
well as obscuring a number of interesting architectural features along its elevation. 
 
It is not clear how ventilation will now be achieved to the external wall of the historic 
building, allowing it to breath and facilitating the drying out process, which is an identified 
benefit of the current proposals. 
 
Sub-frontage D: The Impact of the Proposed Works to the North East of Station 
This element of the proposal comprises the removal of the overhanging platform, which 
formed part of the 1875 phase of works and was then extended in the 1930s. This will 
result in the loss of the station platform and resulting impact on significance. 
Consequently, due to the loss of an element of the listed building sufficient robust 
information must be provided in order to assess the impact and determine whether there is 
sufficient justification for its loss. 
 

96



 

 

Sub-frontage E&F: The Impact of the Proposed Works to Boat House Building and 
Coastguards Interface  
The boathouse and the footbridge are identified as non-designated heritage assets and 
are located within the conservation area. The proposals comprise the demolition of the 
boathouse and would obscure the lower section of the bridge. As they are not listed we do 
not propose to comment in detail although we note that these early structures are 
connected to the railway and Coastguards, and are interesting structures in their own right, 
both contributing to the significance of the listed station (as derived from its setting) and 
the conservation area. 
 
Seawall  
The historic sea wall will be obscured by the current proposed scheme. Although not 
listed, it is a key element of the conservation area and its obscuration contributes to the 
impact of this scheme on the character and appearance and significance of the designated 
area.  
 
The proposed reinstatement will link into the design previously consented along Marine 
Parade. This utilises concrete panels to construct the sea wall. In our view, careful 
consideration needs to be given to the treatment of the new construction around the key 
historic areas, including the station but also the basin area due to the direct visual link 
back into the conservation area. The choice and use of materials should seek to reflect a 
more traditional palette in terms of surface treatments and the finishes visible from within 
the space.  

 
Policy 
The NPPF clearly sets out that in cases where development will have an impact on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (Para 194, NPPF).  
 
Where schemes do result in a conflict between the proposed development and the 
heritage assets, the NPPF advocates that opportunities are sought to avoid or minimise 
the identified impact (NPPF, Para 190). It also positively encourages for opportunities for 
new development within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive 
contribution to or better reveal the significance of the asset should be treated favourably 
(NPPF, Para. 200).  
 
Where the impact cannot be avoided then the resulting harm needs to be clear and 
convincingly justified (NPPF, Para 194). This needs to also consider alternative options 
(NPPF, Para 190), to robustly ensure that the scheme can be demonstrated to be the least 
harmful while achieving similar public benefits. The onus is the local planning authority to 
rigorously test the necessity of any harmful works.  

 

97



 

 

Historic England’s Position  
The proposed scheme constitutes a comprehensive change to the Dalwish Conservation 
Area and the grade II listed station. 
 
The proposed scheme will have a range of impact on the conservation area and listed 
building including its setting. One of the most wide-reaching impacts is the impact of the 
new seawall on the character and appearance of the conservation area in terms of the 
appreciation of its seafront and its connection through to the town. It will also result in the 
loss of significance to the listed station, being no longer an integral part of the sea defence 
and having lost sections of its platform including the columns. The proposed new 
pedestrian footbridge will create a conspicuous addition to the station. Some conservation 
gain is provided through the repair and re-use of the downside waiting room, which will 
need to be secured through the planning process.  
 
In our view there are a number of opportunities within the scheme where the harmful 
impact could be minimised through revisions to the design (NPPF, Para 190). This would 
allow for those elements of the affected asset that contribute to its significance to be better 
expressed through the resulting design (NPPF, Para 200).  
 
Although the application is part of a wider scheme, the council will need to ensure that the 
proposed works are rigorously justified (NPPF, Para 194). Consideration should be given 
to alternative approaches that will minimise the potential impact of the scheme on a range 
of environmental factors including the historic environment (NPPF, Para 190). The historic 
environment is a key consideration in the assessment of the alternative options, ensuring 
that great weight is given to the conservation of the heritage assets (Para 193, NPPF).  

 
Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the applications on heritage grounds. The 
scheme will result in harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
the significance of the listed station.  

 
The council in discussion with their own conservation specialists and the applicants, 
should seek to identify opportunities to address the concerns expressed above. This 
should include any amendments to minimise the identified impact, further clarification on 
specific elements or consideration as to how the benefits could be secured through the 
planning process. 
 
Where loss of significance is identified, the council will need to ensure that robust 
justification has been provided, to allow them to rigorously assess the potential impact. 
They should be confident that the need for the works have been clearly demonstrated 
through the consideration of alternative options thus minimising the impact of the works on 
the historic environment.  
 
31.07.20 Historic England 
 
The new supporting information presents additional justification as well as amendments and 
further details relating to aspect of the scheme where we have previously raised concerns.  
 
Sub-frontage A: The impact of the proposed works to Dawlish Water basin  
Our previous comments focused on the interaction and specifically the views through from the 
town to the sea.  
The revised footprint design is more lightweight reducing the visual impact and allowing views 
through to the sea.  

98



 

 

No further steps have been taken to break up the parapet along the section of the defence 
around the water basin, which will restrict views under the viaduct to the sea.  
We wonder whether an alternative solution could follow other examples of sea defences and 
flooding prevention schemes in instances where access or an open character needs to be 
maintained. In those instances, systems of gates or timber infill complete the defence but 
retain a sense of openness when not in use. We wonder whether this approach could be 
utilised around the basin. The section of parapet could become planters which would link 
through to the character of the pleasure grounds creating a sense of public space. The local 
authority should explore these options with the applicant to try and identify a more permeable 
solution.  
 
Sub-frontage B: The impact of the proposed works to the South west of station; 
 
We would continue to encourage greater consideration be given to the use of the columns. In 
our view, their new use should reflect the former structural role as a group. Ideally we would 
like to see them incorporated into the section of the wall, maybe as breaks within the panels. 
Alternatively, consideration could be given to them forming a piece of art as part of the 
heritage trail, demonstrating their former use within the site. We appreciate that this 
suggestions may depend on their condition and structural integrity, which can only be 
determined once dismantled. The council may need to consider applying an appropriate 
condition to secure this section of works.  
 
Sub-frontage C: The impact of the proposed works to the Station complex  
 
Part of the heritage benefits offered by the current application was the prospect of bringing the 
Downside Waiting Room building back into use. The additional note provided, suggests that 
only one room will actually be brought back into use as part of this programme of works. This 
will limit the heritage gains offered by the scheme and we would encourage the council to 
secure a greater package of works for the site, which will need to be considered as part of 
their deliberation of the wider planning balance.  
The other main aspect of discussion was the new bridge. The additional information on the 
choice of materials has looked to set out the justification for the approach. This appears to be 
largely based on the movement of sand resulting in the texture and colour. However, the 
context in which the bridge will be experienced is not the beach but against the cliffs, which 
are characterised by red earth and tumbling vegetation. In order for the design of the bridge to 
be less conspicuous, we consider that it needs to better respond to its surrounding context. 
This could be through a more recessive colour, and greater consideration should be given to 
its texture at the top of the towers. Furthermore, we wonder whether there is an opportunity to 
incorporate a green wall or areas of sedum to soften the overall design. Advice would need to 
be sought as to whether this could survive in maritime environment. The council should seek 
further alterations to the design, through consultation with the applicant and their conservation 
officer.  
The setting of the station  
With the new wall now looking to abut the historic Downside Waiting Room, we requested 
further details regarding the interface between the old and new structure. This was to ensure 
that the proposed works will enable the historic building to continue to breath and facilitate the 
required drying out process, which is an identified benefit of the current proposals  
A detail has now been provided to show the junction between the existing station building and 
the new sea wall. This appears to be relatively high level and we consider that further 
information is required order to fully understand the potential impact.  
However, at this stage we have a number of issues arising in terms of the proposed design.  
 
 
 
 

99



 

 

These include -  

 The isolation joint at the top of the interface is going to be a particularly vulnerable point 
within the structure. Careful consideration will be required to ensure that is robust but 
does not adversely affect the historic fabric. Clarification of the prefer solution should 
be provided.  

 The drawing does not provide details of the station’s construction and in particular its 
footings. This information needs to be understood at an early stage in order to inform 
the design and to be confident that the proposed interface will work effectively. Further 
details should be provided regarding the construction of the foundations and the walls, 
as well as whether any damp proof course exists.  

 Notwithstanding the requested information set out above, we do have reservations 
regarding the uncompromising nature of the proposed solutions. We appreciate that 
the previous scheme setting the new wall back from the building to create a ventilation 
gap provided management considerations, but it has not been shown that these were 
not insurmountable through suitable maintenance, while providing a better 
environment for the listed wall structure.  

 
We would encourage the council to seek further consideration to the approach of the 
interfacing to ensure that the benefits through the drying out process can be delivered.  
Sub-frontage D, E & F  
In relation to the above sub-frontages and on the basis of the information provided, we do not 
wish to offer any further comments on areas D. E & F. We suggest that you seek the views of 
your specialist conservation.  
Seawall  
We raised the need for careful consideration be given to the treatment of the new seawall 
construction around the key historic areas, including the station and basin.  
Three options have been provided within Note of Contrasting panels to the front of the 
Downside Building. In our view, option 1 allows for a contextual reference the station. A clearly 
modern interpretation, the design indicates the former role of the station as part of the 
defence. 
 
Historic England’s Position  
The proposed scheme constitutes a comprehensive change to the Dawlish Conservation Area 
and the grade II listed station.  
It will have a range of impact on the conservation area and listed building including its setting.  
We consider and have identified above, that there are still opportunities whereby the scheme 
could minimise its impact on the historic environment. This would allow for the development to 
better express the affected assets’ significance through the resulting design (NPPF, Para 200).  
Although the application is part of a wider scheme, the council will need to ensure that the 
proposed works are rigorously justified (NPPF, Para 194). Consideration should be given to 
alternative approaches that will minimise the potential impact of the scheme on a range of 
environmental factors including the historic environment (NPPF, Para 190). The historic 
environment is a key consideration in the assessment of the alternative options, ensuring that 
great weight is given to the conservation of the heritage assets (Para 193, NPPF).  
 
Recommendation  
Historic England has concerns regarding the applications on heritage grounds.  
 
Although the amendments have reduced the impact, the scheme will still result in harm to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area and the significance of the listed station.  
The council in discussion with their own conservation specialists and the applicants, should 
seek to identify opportunities to address the concerns expressed above. This should include 
any amendments to minimise the identified impact, further clarification on specific elements or 
consideration as to how the benefits could be secured through the planning process. 
  

100



 

 

Where loss of significance is identified, the council will need to ensure that robust justification 
has been provided, to allow them to rigorously assess the potential impact. They should be 
confident that the need for the works have been clearly demonstrated through the 
consideration of alternative options thus minimising the impact of the works on the historic 
environment.  

 
Teignbridge District Council Conservation Officer- Key issues raised are; 
 
The impact … is overwhelming in its scale and effects: all the vernacular character of the 
current sea wall, the lower-level promenade, the lower storeys of the seaward side of the 
downside station; the decorative elements to the coastguard footbridge, and the boat 
house will be lost. Either buried beneath the new sea wall, or demolished; for the listed 
structures the harm is substantial. The affect on the setting from the sea, and from the 
land, will be that views from the seaward side will be entirely different from that which they 
have been since the mid-19th century. The views from the landward side, both within and 
without the conservation area, will have a very different aspect towards the sea – from the 
upside platform passengers either seated, or alighting will have their views of the sea 
curtailed. The current permeability of the wooden railings on the seaward side of the down 
platform is considerable, allowing wide almost uninterrupted views to the sea and the 
adjacent coast and headlands.  

 
The totality of the impact and change cannot be underestimated;… If the principle is 
acceded to that the change must take place, and the proposals implemented, to ensure 
the future of the line the only question is what redeeming mitigation can be achieved in 
parallel. …the simple test set out by the NPPF: 
Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary 
to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss (para 195). 

 
Summary of Impact  

 
The Sea Wall & New Promenade – Sub-Areas A-F 

The result of the proposals will be that the old sea wall, and all its ancillary structures will 
be lost by being subsumed into the new structure. The new wall, brutalist in tone, 
monumental in aspect, with its outward recurve will resemble more an international border 
wall than the familiar frontier between sea and land that is the historic structure. The 
vernacular character of the present wall because of its use of local stone, its relationship 
with, and the physical geography of, the locale will be lost entirely; and the remarkable 
permeability that exists today between town and station, and station and sea will be a thing 
of the past. 

 
The Stilling Water Basin adjacent the Colonnade Breakwater – Sub-Area A 

The result of the proposals will transform the low unassuming character of the basin, 
almost part of the beach, into a visually obtrusive and far more integrated part of the mass 
sea defences, connected to the wall structures north and south, spanned by the new 
concrete viaduct bridge, and with ramps up to the downside platform and down to the 
beach.  

 

101



 

 

Colonnade Viaduct – Sub-area A 

It is not clear why the parapet walls need to be solid concrete here too, as they are no 
direct part of the sea defences and the new viaduct has three voids below. 

 
The Downside Station – Sub-Area C 

The new sea wall will bury the whole of the seaward ‘Arsenale’ side and the three returns 
(one at the south end includes a fine doorway and former access to the beach) which 
shape the station under-storey from being simply a part of the seawall’s face, into a 
historical building in 3-dimensional form at this level. All under platform pier-posts, the re-
used gas standards will be lost as part of the structure, though removed and re-used in 
‘wayfinding’ (?). 
 
The result of all the proposed works to the downside station is either total loss, or 
substantial harm to the existing structure and its setting. However, the sea wall, for all its 
aesthetic ungainliness is a 21st Century structure, it is appropriate that the new footbridge 
and lifts are too. It is very fortunately designed that there is sufficient room between them – 
even when tied together by the new secondary wall – allowing them both to breathe. It is a 
great pity that the attractive polygonal shape of the footbridge platform is not 
complemented by a slight batter to the outer sides of the lift towers, in an echo of the 
angled glacis of the station understorey, and sea wall.  
 
The residual element of the downside station will be a single storey structure, tied to the 
secondary dividing wall, shorn of its lower storey; with the loss of the Arsenale setting from 
the sea it will be much shrunken. The proposed re-render will then remove all allusion to 
its former design and form. The station setting will be transformed, and whatever the 
greater benefits to the railway per se, not for the better: there will be a complete alteration 
of views to and from the station from town and beach. Though the railings are designed to 
allow some permeability to the structure, in truth they are an aesthetic gloss, though not 
unattractive, that will do very little to offset what is probably a unique and dramatic sea 
view from both sides of the station. This is further curtailed from the south part by the new 
bridge and lift towers. The loss and substantial harm are manifold and obvious, however 
necessary the sea wall and all its ancillary components are. 

 
The Coastguard Footbridge and Life Boat House – Sub Area E 

The impact on the footbridge abutment is similarly to that of the sea wall on the lower 
storey of the downside station: lost behind the 6-7m width of infill between the new wall 
and the old; its handsome plinth and decorative paired lancet windows buried, and much 
diminished as a structure….The proposal for the boatshed is simply demolition, even with 
the slight lowering of the height of the new sea wall here, the raising and infilling would 
come to present eaves level (see elevations as above for the footbridge).  
 
PROPOSED MITIGATION 

 
General Mitigation  

I. Podiums and viewing areas in the new basin;  

II. Heritage Interpretation boards;  

III. Discrete new seating, variously concrete, limestone (re-used), or granite; and  

IV. Marine wildlife traps, and habitat niches in the basin area.  
 

102



 

 

Specific Mitigation  

I. The re-use of material from the Lifeboat House  

II. Reuse of the Pier Posts/gas lamp standards  

III. Building Recording  

IV. The New Footbridge (A major addition to the original scheme)  

V. The conservation of the Downside Waiting Room  
 

The Re-use of Material from the Lifeboat House: 
‘To reuse some of the material within the locality as part of the new landscape.  This is the 
one area of mitigation which is actually under emphasised…seating type 2 will be 
reclaimed limestone and will be used to delineate the footprint of the boathouse building as 
well as some of the proposed seats in front of the station building.  

 
The Re-use of the Gas Lamp Standards: 
‘To be retained on site and to be used as part of the Wayfinding Programme’. There is no 
further definition of that programme in any of the application submissions. 

 
Building Recording:  

The Sarah Dyer Photo Recording (SDPR) reports have already been completed; they 
cannot be seen as mitigation, only a part of the application. In any case the NPPF makes 
such recording a requirement: ‘the ability to record evidence of our past should not be a 
factor in deciding whether such loss should be permitted’ (para 199). 

 
The New Footbridge with Step-free Access: 

A major addition to the sea wall programme, it nonetheless brings with it its own impact, to 
the station and its setting. 
 
The Conservation of the Downside Waiting Room: 

…the mitigation for the station, with exception of the details set out in the application, such 
as platform paving (Details sheet 1, drawing 000041), and the raising of the station doors 
(Interface Details sheet 01, drawing 000040), remains aspirational and in the HS it is 
fundamentally couched in the conditional language of recommendations. 

 
FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS OF IMPACT AND MITIGATION 
 
Physical fabric survives of Brunel’s 1846 atmospheric pumping house in the car park.  The 
car park site, while not the focus for any development itself, is earmarked to be the 
construction compound.  The volume of stored material, deliveries and road movements 
will be of a much greater scale, and the potential for impact upon the fragile relict 
structures is very high. A full survey of the Brunel survivals, and a method statement for 
their protection during the construction programme, incorporated into a Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP) is essential – as is their subsequent conservation 
and interpretation.  
 
Proposed Sections I & J (drawings 000105-106) show the proximity of the piles to the 
downside station…consideration should be given to the potential impact on the station, 
and those different elements at the different chronological interfaces, where the structural 
integrity will vary: the two sea walls of 1846 and 1875, the aesthetically poor and later 
concrete and metal frame roof etc…While this will doubtless be addressed in a future 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) it should also be considered as part of the formal 
building condition survey with specific request for the impact of piling. 

103



 

 

 
CONDITIONS Recommended to be Attached to 20/00922 LBC  

 
CONDITIONAL MITIGATION  
 
Conditions will need to be attached to any schedule of consent, but before that further 
preparatory work is required and must be submitted prior to determination. As noted above 
the proposed conservation of the downside station building is only narrowly defined in the 
application, its scope illustrated by the Heritage Sketch 06 Proposed Station in the HS 
(p.110). That it is not wider in extent is clear from Arup’s clear statement that the 
conservation approach to restoration takes place over a phased period, and that A full 
specification, drawings and schedule would be required. (HS, p.101). 
 
 
Requirements:  

 The condition report The Conservation of the Downside Waiting Room in the HS 
(pp. 77-78) should form the basis for a full Building Surveyor’s Report; this should 
also assess and address the stability of the building when piling adjacent.  

 This report when completed should inform a method statement for full repair 
predicated upon the Conservation Works Phased Study to the Downside Building 
set out in the HS (pp.95-103). This must also include a new roof canopy, based on 
the original design – original gables survive. The HS is clear in its estimation of 
worth of that extant: ‘Aesthetically the later [concrete and metal frame] roof is not in 
keeping with the original design and is in poor condition’ (p.36); and ‘the new 
canopy has been designed to have any additional rainfall from the platform fall 
inwards directly onto the inner face of the downside waiting room building. This may 
be causing additional damp’ (p.97). Any conservation of the station building 
undertaken with such a system left in place would be completely undermined.  

 Subject only to the method statement, the urgency of the works is paramount: 
Arup’s recommendation in June 2020 was that the Stage 1 (urgent works) are 
carried out as soon as possible and that the new wall is constructed between stage 
1 and Stage 2. This means that stage 1 works must be completed before sea wall 
construction begins in the listed building area; i.e., stage 1 works should be a pre-
commencement condition.  

 It is inappropriate that the facing of the new sea wall below the station, the area 
equivalent to an ‘elevational-footprint’ of the lower-storey building, should use the 
same concrete panels as elsewhere, with no attempt to acknowledge the loss. 
Historic England in its response to the scheme (8 July 2020) aired it concerns:  

 
[The Sea Wall] is a key element of the conservation area and its obscuration contributes to 
the impact of this scheme on the character and appearance and significance of the 
designated area. The proposed reinstatement will link into the design previously consented 
along Marine Parade. This utilises concrete panels to construct the sea wall. In our view, 
careful consideration needs to be given to the treatment of the new construction around 
the key historic areas, including the station … The choice and use of materials should 
seek to reflect a more traditional palette in terms of surface treatments and the finishes 
(p.4).  
 

104



 

 

Three solutions are possible, from maximalist to minimalist:  
 
i. Between the new stair ramp to the beach, north of the colonnade underpass the panels 
to the sea wall up to the Coastguard Breakwater (extending form the Listed building area 
into that of the NPA) should be limestone, not concrete. They panels should be fabricated 
in relief that the ‘ghost’ of the lost lower storey, with its blind recesses and returns, echoes 
the buried structure within. 
ii. The panels representing the lost lower storey only should be in limestone, with its blind 
recesses and returns in relief; the sea wall, as elsewhere continues in concrete.  
iii. The panels should remain in concrete but be fabricated in high contrast relief: colour, 
texture etc., that the ‘ghost’ of the lost lower storey, with its blind recesses and returns, 
echoes the buried structure.  
 
It may be objected that the width of the new seawall will give rise to distorting parallax 
views, but overwhelmingly the views will be from the front, and the ‘ghost’ will be 
immediately legible in its setting, especially when coupled with the proposed interpretation 
boards. At the south end of the sea wall the relief panels will have be extended over the 
lower end of the ramp to the beach where this overlaps the sea wall, (see Proposed 
Elevation A Sheet 04, drawing 000033).  
 

 Similarly, the lost volume of the lower storey, with its returns and re-entrant angles 
should be expressed in the promenade walk above; super-imposed within the 
design shown on proposed plan sheet 06 (drawing 000028).  

 
Senior Historic Environment Officer DCC 
 
A programme of historic building recording has been undertaken as part of the overarching 
works to the sea wall at Dawlish and, as such, I do not consider that any additional 
mitigation is required for the impact upon the heritage asset that is the railway station. 
  
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Five comments in support and one objection have been received.  Those in support raise 
the following points; 
 

 The impacts of the 2014 closure were massive 

 A reliable resilient railway is vital as we recover from the pandemic 

 The globally recognized tidal and coastal experts working for NR have put forward 
the best solution for the town and railway. 

 Providing improved facilities for passengers at the station and pedestrians on the 
sea wall. 

 Use of local labour, materials and accommodation is welcomed 

 An open railing on the new elevated footpath is not practical  

 The new sea wall will deflect spray that presently drenches passengers on the open 
timber platform. 

 In considering these proposals one has to bear in mind the tidal range which, at 
present, frequently covers the lower coast path and limits access to its continuation 
under the timber platform structure 

 The suggestion of the TDC Conservation Officer, in an 18 page report, that the new 
seawall carries visual echoes of the present plinth structure on its outer face, is not 
going to be understood. 

 With climate change doing nothing is not an option 

105



 

 

 Benefit to tourism 
 

The comment against the proposal raises the following points; 

 Height of footbridge will dominate existing listed building 

 Positioning with angled towers is out of place 

 Bridge is unnecessary as step free access would be available using the new sea 
wall 

 Why not one lift shaft on Newton Abbot side? 

 no guarantees the current station footbridge won’t be closed to passengers in the 
future 

 
   
8. TOWN / PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS 
 
Dawlish Town Council -  
Comment: (for applications 20/00922/LBC and 20/00933/NPA) RESOLVED by majority of 
Members present and voting that this Council OBJECTS to the applications with the 
following comments:  

 The protection of the railway is welcomed and acknowledged as a critical element of 
Dawlish. However, there are still questions regarding specifics of the design in terms 
of accessibility, safety, retention of heritage features in a conservation area and 
ensuring new elements are sympathetic to the existing structures and character of 
Dawlish as a town.  

 Access to the beach for those with mobility issues is important and there is concern 
regarding a lack of ramp down to the beach and escape steps from the beach to the 
sea wall.  

 The inclusion of the lift and bridge are welcomed. However, the lift design could be 
less brutal. Members suggested cladding in local stone and a low apex roof would be 
more in keeping with the original design of the station.  

 Members would like to see as many historic features retained as possible, noting the 
comments of the Local History Group speaker and the heritage statement.  

 Members agree with the concerns regarding the design of the stilling basin 
referenced in the Teignbridge submission.  

 Members feel that a breakwater should still be considered as part of a long-term 
solution.  

 
 
9. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 
 
This is a Listed Building application and as such is outside the scope of the CIL 
regulations. 
 
10.  ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on 
the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development. 

106



 

 

 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  

The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights Act, and 
in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In 
arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable 
development rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the 
wider community interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development 
Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
12. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITIES  

 
This listed building application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
with regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the case office has concluded that the 
application does not cause discrimination on the grounds of gender, race and disability. 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Manager – Strategic Place 
 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

CHAIRMAN:  Cllr  Mike Haines 

 

 
DATE: Tuesday 18 August 2020 
 
REPORT OF: Business Manager – Strategic Place 
 
SUBJECT: Appeal Decisions 
 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THE FULL TEXT OF THESE APPEAL DECISIONS IS 
AVAILABLE ON THE COUNCIL'S WEBSITE 
 
20/00002/REF TEIGNMOUTH - 2 Harts Close Teignmouth  
 Appeal against the refusal of planning permission 

19/01816/FUL - Dwelling in garden and associated 
works 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED – DELEGATED REFUSAL 
 
 20/00011/FAST TEIGNMOUTH - Firmoor  New Road  
 Appeal against the refusal of planning permission 

19/02334/FUL - Retention of timber boundary fence 
 

APPEAL ALLOWED – DELEGATED REFUSAL  
  

20/00009/FAST TEIGNMOUTH - 6 Harts Close Teignmouth  

 Appeal against the refusal of planning permission for 

19/02489/FUL - Raising of front garden area to provide 

off road parking with new dropped kerb 

 

APPEAL ALLOWED – DELEGATED REFUSAL 

 

20/00010/FAST KENN - 21 Rayners Kennford  
 Appeal against the refusal of Planning Permission 

19/02330/FUL - Rear extension, loft conversion and 
front porch 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED - DELEGATED REFUSAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

109

Agenda Item 9



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
20/00034/FAST KINGSTEIGNTON - 22 Humber Lane Kingsteignton  

 Appeal against the refusal of planning application 

19/01804/FUL - Retention of childrens playhouse with 

slide and steps for access 

 

APPEAL DISMISSED - DELEGATED REFUSAL 

 

20/00025/FAST KINGSTEIGNTON - 7 Queens Close Kingsteignton  
 Vehicular hardstanding to dwelling, with storage under 

(partly constructed) 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED - DELEGATED REFUSAL 
 

20/00035/FAST SHALDON - 78 Ringmore Road Shaldon  
 Demolition of section of wall/pillar and formation of 

vehicular access 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED - DELEGATED REFUSAL 
 

 20/00032/FAST TEIGNMOUTH - 27 St Marys Road Teignmouth  
 Appeal against the refusal of planning application 

20/00604/FUL - Dormer window to front. 
 

APPEAL ALLOWED - DELEGATED REFUSAL 
 
20/00005/REF NEWTON ABBOT - 56 Windsor Avenue Newton Abbot  
 Appeal against the refusal of planning permission 

19/00594/FUL - Use of part property for dog breeding 
business including ancillary buildings 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED – DELEGATED REFUSAL 
 

20/00006/ENFA NEWTON ABBOT - 56 Windsor Avenue Newton Abbot  
 Appeal against grounds a, f, and g for Enforcement 

Notice - Without planning permission, the unauthorised 
change of use of a residential property to a mixed use of 
residential and a dog breeding business 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED – ENFORCEMENT NOTICE 
VARIED AND UPHELD 

 
  

110



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 
19/00067/REF TEIGNMOUTH - 1 St Scholasticas, The Priests House  

Dawlish Road  

 Appeal against the refusal of listed building consent 

19/01152/LBC - Internal reconfiguration and 

refurbishment and conversion of the roof space with 

additional roof lights 

 

APPEAL DISMISSED – DELEGATED REFUSAL 

 

111



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 07/07/2020 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	7 DAWLISH - 20/00933/NPA - Coastguards Breakwater To Colonnades Breakwater And Dawlish Railway Station, Station Road - Application for prior approval of siting and appearance under Part 18 Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 2015 of proposed Coastal Resilience Works to Railway Infrastructure to include a new taller sea wall between two existing breakwaters incorporating a wider higher public promenade with a link structure to join Marine Parade and new ramped pedestrian access to beach adjacent to and adjoining the railway station. Other works to include the demolition of the coastguards building, works to the station including reconstructed downside station platform, new accessible passenger footbridge and refurbishment of passenger waiting room
	8 DAWLISH - 20/00922/LBC - Dawlish Railway Station , Station Road - Works to include reconstruction of existing timber downside station platform, new accessible passenger footbridge, alterations to existing platforms surface resulting in minor changes to door openings of downside station building, refurbishment of passenger waiting room and refurbishment and repairs to the fabric of the station building on seaward elevation all in association with Dawlish Sea Wall Stage 2 project
	9 Appeal Decisions - to note appeal decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate.

